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          1  YOUTH SERVICES AND JUVENILE JUSTICE

          2                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: Good afternoon,

          3  everyone. This is a hearing of the New York City

          4  Council's Committee on Youth Services, together with

          5  the Subcommittee on Juvenile Justice.

          6                 My name is Ken Fisher, Chairman of

          7  the Youth Services Committee, a Council Member from

          8  Brooklyn.  I'm joined by Council Member Annette

          9  Robinson, the Chair of our Subcommittee, and Council

         10  Member Pedro Espada, who is the Councilman from this

         11  area and who assisted us in making the arrangements

         12  to hold our hearing here today at PS 48. And I want

         13  to express our appreciation to the Principal and her

         14  staff, as well as the other people who were involved

         15  in making the arrangements for us to be here today.

         16                 Let me make one announcement at the

         17  outset, which is, if you are here to testify at our

         18  hearing, please, see one of the Sergeant-At-Arms,

         19  over at the side of the podium to fill out a witness

         20  slip so that we know to recognize you.  Unless we

         21  get a slip, I won't know that you want to testify

         22  and won't know to call your names.

         23                 This is an official hearing of the

         24  New York City Council, it is being recorded, and if

         25  you have any questions about our procedures, please
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          2  see one of the Sergeant-At-Arms of the Council, they

          3  will be happy to assist you.

          4                 Also, if you want to testify, when

          5  you are called, come up to the podium.

          6                 The subject of our hearing today, is

          7  the Department of Juvenile Justice, and specifically

          8  population and management practices of the

          9  Department and the circumstances leading to plans to

         10  reopen the Spofford Juvenile Detention Facility down

         11  the street. You will be hearing more detail about

         12  Spofford and those circumstances, later in the

         13  hearing.

         14                 Basically, the Committee has three

         15  concerns.  First, why is it that we're opening up a

         16  detention facility that was closed so recently,

         17  particularly when the City has opened up two new

         18  facilities that were intended to replace Spofford?

         19  And what is it about aggregation juvenile crime

         20  population that seems to require so many children to

         21  be locked up?

         22                 We want to understand what the crime

         23  trends are, and also that City making process that

         24  leads to a young person getting sent to a security

         25  detention.  In other words, the question is, are we
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          2  making the right choices for children when children

          3  make the wrong choices with their lives?

          4                 Secondly, when Spofford was closed

          5  the City began to use a facility known as the Vernon

          6  C. Bain, an adult prison barge, for the detention of

          7  some of these young people.  The Council was very

          8  concerned about it at the time and wrote into the

          9  budget certain conditions on the use of the Vernon

         10  C. Bain, including it required that it would be

         11  vacated by a date certain.  A part of the plan for

         12  reopening Spofford reflect that decision, but what

         13  we want to understand is, are we on target are plans

         14  proceeding expeditiously to make sure that we don't

         15  keep those kids on the Vernon C. Bain one day longer

         16  than we have to.

         17                 And finally, one of the areas that we

         18  would like to look at today, although perhaps not as

         19  in much detail as would be the case in a normal Land

         20  Use Review, is what is the impact on the immediate

         21  neighborhood as the result of the decision to reopen

         22  Spofford, and what kind of message does it send to

         23  the community? Council Member Espada, with

         24  assistance from myself and others, have encouraged

         25  the Administration to provide some alternatives to
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          2  young people in this area and to send the message

          3  that their only choice is not secure detention.  So

          4  we want to look at that.

          5                 Now because Spofford will be

          6  reopening a City- owned building and being used for

          7  substantially the same purpose for which it had been

          8  used before its closing, it is not subject for the

          9  normal Land Use Review process of Community Board,

         10  City Planning Commission, and Council approval.  And

         11  that is one of the reason why I decided to hold this

         12  hearing in the Bronx today, to make it a little bit

         13  more accessible to people who might be in need to

         14  testify.

         15                 Finally, before I come to the Chair

         16  of our Subcommittee for some opening remarks, there

         17  was an article in the New York Daily News today

         18  regarding our hearing, which I thought was very

         19  helpful in setting forth the background of this.

         20  Unfortunately, due to what I have been told is an

         21  editing error, a comment that I made was misquoted,

         22  it shouldn't have read that we have been concerned

         23  about the population management issues for a year

         24  now, that is something that we have been talking

         25  about since I have became Chair of the Committee,
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          2  that was misread in the reporter's notes, since we

          3  have been concerned about the poor management issues

          4  for a year now. That was not my intention, that is

          5  not my view of you Commissioner, and I wanted to

          6  make that clear and on the record so that there was

          7  misunderstanding about that.

          8                 In any event, procedurally I am going

          9  to call on Council Member Robinson, and then we will

         10  be hearing from the Commissioner of Juvenile

         11  Justice, a representative of the Borough President,

         12  and other concerned parties also indicate their

         13  desire to speak.

         14                 Council Member Robinson.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON ROBINSON:  Thank you,

         16  Chairman Fisher. Good afternoon and welcome to

         17  today's hearing of the City Council's Youth Services

         18  Committee and the Subcommittee on Juvenile Justice.

         19  I'm Council Member Annette Robinson representing the

         20  36th Council District in Brooklyn, which consists of

         21  the communities of Bedford Stuyvesant and Crown

         22  Heights.

         23                 Today's hearing on the Department of

         24  Juvenile Justice plan to reopen the Spofford

         25  Juvenile Facility is being held in the Bronx because
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          2  we felt that this issue should be brought to the

          3  community.  Spofford is in your neighborhood, the

          4  jobs at Spofford your jobs, and, unfortunately, many

          5  of the children who are incarcerated are your

          6  children, our children.

          7                 According to the Department of

          8  Juvenile Justice a majority of children in secure

          9  detention in New York City come mostly from the

         10  Bronx and my borough, Brooklyn.  About two years ago

         11  our Committees held a hearing on the staffs of the

         12  new secured facilities that have since opened and

         13  off the state of disrepair of Spofford.  The

         14  Department of Juvenile Justice sent back then that

         15  Spofford was expensive to maintain and expensive to

         16  restore. However, here we are today to discuss a

         17  plan to reopen Spofford. Commissioner Hernandez has

         18  explained to us why the Administration wants to

         19  reopen a Juvenile Detention Center that since its

         20  inception, opening in 1957, has been criticized as

         21  poorly constructed, inaccessible to family and

         22  counsel, and is a security nightmare.

         23                 Our audience, the community of the

         24  Bronx, would also like to know what will become of

         25  their plans to renovate Spofford to community use.
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          2  Now we would like to introduce Commissioner Tino

          3  Hernandez of the Department of Juvenile Justice,

          4  Commissioner.

          5                 COMMISSIONER HERNANDEZ:  I wanted to

          6  thank you, first, Chairman for your gracious remarks

          7  about the article in the Daily News as it appeared.

          8                 Good afternoon, Chairman Fisher,

          9  Chairwoman Robinson, members of the Subcommittee and

         10  other honorable members of the Youth Services

         11  Committee.  I am Tino Hernandez of the New York City

         12  Department of Juvenile Justice Agency.  I am here

         13  today in the Hunts Point community to testify about

         14  the City's plans to renovate and reopen the building

         15  historically known as the Spofford Juvenile Center

         16  and its impact on DJJ's secure detention capacity.

         17                 It was a year ago today, when I first

         18  came before this Committee as a new Commissioner and

         19  informed you about the Department's elevated secure

         20  detention population levels.  From everything that I

         21  have examined, I now know that the issue for DJJ is

         22  not, as often portrayed, a population management

         23  problem, but a need to build sufficient detention

         24  capacity and flexibility to meet peak population

         25  requirements.  Accordingly, over the past year, I

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            10

          1  YOUTH SERVICES AND JUVENILE JUSTICE

          2  have shared with you the Department's various

          3  incremental strategies to deal with population

          4  fluctuations in detention.

          5                 As you know, juveniles are admitted

          6  to detention through two points of entry, the police

          7  or the court system.  The Department does not decide

          8  the number of young people admitted to or released

          9  from detention.  DJJ's role is to protect public

         10  safety through the provision of safe, secure, and

         11  humane detention environment for all youth remanded

         12  to our custody.

         13                 As I have stated previously, when

         14  looking at DJJ's recent capacity issues in secure

         15  detention it is important to realize that the

         16  initial planning for the Horizon and the Crossroads

         17  Juvenile Centers occurred over three administrations

         18  ago, spanning over a decade.

         19                 In Fiscal Year 1998, we saw a

         20  sustained population growth that is continuing this

         21  year.  This occurred at the point that the new

         22  facilities opened and the City closed Spofford.

         23  Consequently, DJJ staff have worked diligently to

         24  develop a feasible and comprehensive capacity

         25  expansion plan.  I believe that we have been
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          2  successful in our efforts.

          3                 Soon after becoming Commissioner, I

          4  decided to approach the Commissioner of the

          5  Department of Correction about temporarily leasing

          6  100 beds at the vacant Vernon C. Bain Center as a

          7  short- term solution to address DJJ's immediate need

          8  for additional capacity.  I would like to thank

          9  Corrections for their cooperation because by

         10  utilizing space at the Vernon C. Bain, we were able

         11  to move residents out of the Spofford building

         12  allowing us to strategize about long-term solutions.

         13                 Since June 27, 1998, with the

         14  approval of the New York State Office of Children

         15  and Family Services, the VCBC has functioned as

         16  DJJ's admission and intake facility for boys.  In

         17  addition, this facility is used to detain juvenile

         18  awaiting transport to OCFS facilities.  By

         19  centralizing the intake and OCFS discharge functions

         20  of the Department, we have been better able to: A)

         21  thoroughly assess the needs of new admits during

         22  their first few days in detention, and, b) work more

         23  closely with and prepare youth recently placed with

         24  the State.

         25                 The purpose of today's hearing is to
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          2  focus on the Department's intermediate plan for

          3  capacity expansion which I announced the last time I

          4  testified before the Committee, the renovation and

          5  reopening of the Spofford building.

          6                 DJJ, in conjunction with the

          7  Department of Design and Construction, will renovate

          8  the A, B, and C wings of Spofford to increase our

          9  secure detention capacity by 150 beds.  Seven

         10  million dollars have been allocated in the Mayor's

         11  capital budget to complete this project.

         12                 Moving back to the Spofford building

         13  is the best option for meeting the Department's and

         14  residents' needs at this time.  The Spofford

         15  Juvenile Center has had a controversial history,

         16  which, as you look closely fall really into two

         17  areas, building conditions and quality of services

         18  and care.  In studying the City's juvenile justice

         19  history, it is clear that the establishment of

         20  Department of Juvenile Justice in 1979 as a separate

         21  agency abated many of the quality of care issues.

         22  But, over the years, the physical condition of the

         23  forty- year- old building continued to be of serious

         24  concern.

         25                 The City's renovation plans for A, B,
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          2  and C wings will address many of the longstanding

          3  physical plant and operational inefficiencies in the

          4  building.  In preparation for the renovation, the

          5  Department and DDC conducted extensive surveys of

          6  the facility to assess the areas in need of repair.

          7  Under this renovation, building upgrades will result

          8  in improved lighting, heating and venting, repaired

          9  and clean windows, a renovated gym, and upgraded

         10  outdoor recreation yard, new security systems,

         11  including closed circuit televisions, and the

         12  relocation of program areas.  The dorms and day

         13  rooms will be repainted and tile will be repaired

         14  and/or replaced, the bedrooms will have new

         15  furniture and refurbished doors will have new vision

         16  panels.

         17                 In addition to addressing the

         18  physical conditions, DJJ's plan allows for more

         19  efficient management of the building. The multiple

         20  wing layout of the Spofford building made

         21  supervision, management, and service delivery more

         22  complex.  In our plan, we have included design

         23  changes that will bring the housing and program

         24  areas together to improve resident access to

         25  services.  Two wings of the building will be
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          2  renovated to provide comfortable living quarters for

          3  the residents and an adjacent third wing will house

          4  the key services essential to providing a high level

          5  of care to youth, services such as medical,

          6  education, case management and recreation services.

          7  Once the renovations are completed at the Spofford

          8  building, the Department of Juvenile Justice will

          9  vacated the Vernon C. Bainbridge facility.

         10                 As DJJ made the transition to the

         11  multiple secure detention facility system, the

         12  development of a centralize intake discharge

         13  facility at the VCBC has enhanced operations.  As a

         14  result, the new renovated facility will be used for

         15  the same functions.

         16                 Prior to the development of our

         17  renovation plans, I was aware that the community had

         18  an interest in using the Spofford building as a

         19  youth center.  After having discussions with you

         20  Chairman, Councilman Espada, and other leaders from

         21  the community, I discussed the matter with the Mayor

         22  who authorized the creation of a new youth center

         23  here in this neighborhood.  The Mayor has designated

         24  over $4 million to this project, and has asked

         25  Deputy Mayor Segarra to work with the community to
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          2  make this plan a reality.

          3                 Now that the Department has a plan in

          4  place to address our immediate capacity needs, we

          5  are beginning to explore long- term options for

          6  permanent expanded capacity.  In fact, the Mayor's

          7  capital plan now includes $35 million for the

          8  development of long-term capacity.  DJJ has

          9  requested that DDC conduct a feasibility study on

         10  expanding the Crossroads and Horizon Juvenile

         11  Centers within its existing perimeters.

         12                 As I have indicated, DJJ has a

         13  capacity issue, not a population management problem.

         14    The number of secure detention beds was reduced at

         15  the time that the average daily population was

         16  increasing.  The return to the Spofford building by

         17  the end of the year will give the Department the

         18  flexibility that it needs to adequately address

         19  young people as they are remanded to us.  As part of

         20  our capacity needs assessment, DJJ has dedicated a

         21  significant amount of time to learning more about

         22  the population that we serve.

         23                 As you look at national trends, New

         24  York detains fewer juveniles than most other states

         25  in the country as cited by a recent study issued by
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          2  the Federal Office of Juvenile Justice and

          3  Delinquency Prevention.  Nationally, juvenile crime

          4  has declined and in New York City, juvenile arrests

          5  have also been on a downward trend.  Overall crime

          6  in the City is down AST a rate that exceeds national

          7  reductions.  But as you know, in Fiscal Year '98,

          8  DJJ saw an increase in both admissions and the

          9  average daily population in secure detention.

         10                 Our research has given us a clear

         11  picture of the youth coming into detention.  What we

         12  are seeing are juveniles with prior history in the

         13  court system, complicated and/or multiple cases, and

         14  who enter the system in a variety of ways other than

         15  from an initial arrest, for example, as a result of

         16  a warrant, probation or parole violation.  The

         17  Department's population analysis has shown that:

         18                 On a given day, eight out of ten

         19  youth in detention have had a prior family court

         20  involvement.

         21                 Forty- one percent of the youth

         22  admitted to secure detention in Fiscal Year '98 had

         23  prior admissions into detention at some point in

         24  time and 20 percent were admitted more than once in

         25  Fiscal Year '99.
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          2                 Seventeen percent of admissions were

          3  for youth with multiple family and/or criminally

          4  court cases.

          5                 Juveniles with multiple cases or

          6  admissions had a disproportionate effect on

          7  admissions and the average daily population.

          8                 Sixty- one percent of juveniles were

          9  charged with felony offenses at admission, 17

         10  percent for warrants or violations, 15 percent for

         11  misdemeanors, and 7 percent for other reasons.

         12                 It is critical that DJJ has

         13  sufficient capacity to accommodate juveniles

         14  remanded to detention.  Case in point is the

         15  Department's use of the VCBC since the closing of

         16  Spofford. Without the addition of the 100 VCBC beds,

         17  DJJ's secure detention would have had to operate at

         18  25 percent over its certified capacity on an average

         19  day.

         20                 The reopened, renovated Spofford will

         21  increase the Department's ability to provide safe,

         22  secure facilities and proactively manage changes in

         23  New York City's detention population.

         24                 With the implementation of our

         25  capacity expansion plans underway, DJJ now has the
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          2  opportunity to focus a great deal of effort into

          3  enhancing the services available at the intake

          4  facility, as well as in other parts of detention.

          5                 For example, DJJ in collaboration

          6  with ACS, Probation, and the Vera Institute

          7  continues to work on Project Confirm, which targets

          8  foster care youth with low- level charges at intake

          9  who were eligible to go home but remained in

         10  detention due to the absence of a guardian at

         11  detention or in court.  In fact, the program has

         12  received funding to expand City- wide in Spring

         13  1999.  In another important collaboration, DJJ is

         14  also currently working with the Department of

         15  Probation to develop a joint intake process that

         16  will enhance assessment and expedite the Family

         17  Court process.

         18                 DJJ is hiring a Director of Program

         19  Services who will coordinate and oversee the

         20  delivery of core services in detention.  We have

         21  also expanded our health and mental health services

         22  by increasing the number of psychiatric social

         23  workers and medical supervision hours provided

         24  through our medical contractor. In addition, DJJ has

         25  developed a program that will focus on health,
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          2  mental health, and substance abuse through

          3  prevention and intervention services within

          4  detention.  An RFP for the implementation of this

          5  program was released last week through the Mayor's

          6  Office of the Criminal Justice Coordinator.

          7                 In closing, I believe the Department

          8  has taken significant steps to address its long-

          9  term capacity issues while providing us with the

         10  opportunity to better serve those youth who are

         11  admitted to detention.  At this time, I will answer

         12  any questions that the Committee may have about the

         13  Department's capacity plans and the Spofford

         14  renovation.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER:  Thank you,

         16  Commissioner.  Let we first acknowledge that we have

         17  been joined by Council Members Lopez and Perkins

         18  from Manhattan, Council Member Clarke from Brooklyn.

         19                 Commissioner, what is the population,

         20  what is your census today, and if you can give it to

         21  us by facility, if possible?

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER APPLE:  Sure.

         23  Oh, I'm sorry, I'm Doug Apple, Deputy Commissioner

         24  of DJJ.  Today's population we have in secured

         25  detention 353.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER:  Can we have that

          3  broken down by facility?

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER APPLE:  Yes,

          5  absolutely.  In the Vernon C. Bain is 87, 121 in

          6  Horizon, and 137 in Crossroads.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER:  And what is your

          8  total capacity for those three facilities?

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER APPLE:  The total

         10  capacity with the full stays included is 688.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER:  And could you

         12  tell me if there is a date certain to be off the

         13  Vernon C. Bain?

         14                 COMMISSIONER HERNANDEZ:  We have made

         15  a commitment to leave Vernon C. Bain, once the

         16  renovation work is done at Spofford, we're presently

         17  targeting September to try to do that. As you know,

         18  many times with construction there is always a

         19  possibility of slipping, but we are really working

         20  very closely with DDC if we can meet that target

         21  date.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER:  I wonder if you

         23  could just elaborate on that for a moment and tell

         24  us sort of what the status is on this?  Is this

         25  being contracted out, is it being done by City
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          2  workers, has it been bid out, are the specs in

          3  place?

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER APPLE:  Sure, I

          5  think I can answer that question, I have been sort

          6  of doing the day- to- day on this.  We have engaged

          7  an architect, we have engaged a construction

          8  manager, they are under contract, they have been

          9  working, in fact, they have been working for a

         10  number of months.  We're virtually finished with the

         11  plans for the design to redesign the facility. We

         12  are putting it out to bid, actually this week, a

         13  portion of the renovation work, this is related to

         14  the windows.  We are putting out the rest of the

         15  project to bid, I think conservatively, in probably

         16  about a month.  I think you have already, those that

         17  know the building and our present TV program have

         18  already seen some activity, we have some, a small

         19  number done already, we have some scaffolding up

         20  with corporations starting to work.  I think you

         21  will see large scale renovation begin probably in

         22  May.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER:  I'm going to

         24  hold, I have some other questions, but I will hold

         25  for second round so my colleagues can ask some
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          2  questions.  But I think there is one over arching

          3  issue, Commissioner, that you alluded to in your

          4  testimony, but I'm not sure that I completely

          5  understand the answer.  And that is, if as you

          6  testified, juvenile crime has declined and the New

          7  York City juvenile arrests have also been in a

          8  downward trend.  I mean, why is the juvenile

          9  population of New York City seem to be going up? And

         10  if my recollection of the Mayor's Management Report

         11  recently released this correct, we're also seeing

         12  that the average length of stay for these young

         13  people is longer.

         14                 So are we locking up more kids and we

         15  are arresting more kids now, are we locking up more

         16  kids, and are we locking them up for longer periods

         17  of time, and if either of those is the case, why is

         18  that the case?

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER APPLE:  The

         20  biggest part of the answer, I guess, is the fact

         21  that the kids coming to detention appear to have

         22  fairly significant history in family court, many of

         23  the kids have had previous PINOS cases, persons in

         24  need of supervision, which is an event that happens,

         25  you know, it's not an arrest, it's a Family Court
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          2  event associated with truancy or with an issue of

          3  the family, like brought in by a parent, a guardian,

          4  a school  for a number of different reasons.  We see

          5  a larger percent of the kids coming in that have

          6  multiple cases.  I think, as you heard the

          7  Commissioner's testimony, almost 20 percent of the

          8  kids come in with more than one case at a time, 40

          9  percent of the kids that come to us have been with

         10  us before.

         11                 So what I think you are seeing is a

         12  somewhat of a change in the composition of the

         13  population, kids with cases in the past, kids with

         14  histories.  And what we're seeing that causes them

         15  to stay longer in detention because judges and

         16  prosecutors and defense spending more time on that

         17  kind of case than more straight forward case than

         18  kids with several cases of offenses.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER:  Council Member

         20  Robinson.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON ROBINSON:  Thank you very

         22  much. Certainly, I would like to share my concern as

         23  to the statistics that were also reported in terms

         24  of the upward spiral for our young people being

         25  incarcerated.  I think that it was reported about
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          2  $35 million that was going to be used to expand

          3  capacity, and I would certainly see that being used

          4  on the front end in terms of prevention programs.  I

          5  would hope that some of that would be translated to

          6  this Administration so that we could talk about

          7  prevention, before we start talking about prevention

          8  education before incarceration.

          9                 According to the report that I have

         10  seen, it talks about, it was an article that was

         11  done by the Comptroller, no, I'm sorry, by the

         12  Department of Design and Construction back in 1997,

         13  it indicated that there were some things that were

         14  in failure or would be in failure within the next

         15  six months.  Are you familiar with the report?

         16  Okay.  And all these items have indicated some

         17  things that were put out to bid, the roof, now that

         18  you have completed those, you did indicate.  And

         19  there was mention before in terms that there were

         20  some things in conversion equipment, what has been

         21  done failed now, distribution steam pipe, has that

         22  been corrected?  Or are there plans to do those

         23  things that are on there?

         24                 Well, let's do it this way.  Those

         25  things that are on here that are projected to be a
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          2  failure between now and the next six months, well,

          3  that was then, they are in failure now according to

          4  the report.  Could you explain some of those items

          5  to us so that we know exactly what is happening with

          6  the institution at this time?

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER APPLE:  Sure,

          8  sure, I would be happy to Councilwoman.  My answer

          9  is I have read the report, in fact, we did use this

         10  report as one of the guides when we were considering

         11  going back to Spofford and developing our plans.  We

         12  were obviously aware of it and used this as well as

         13  more extensive surveys.  What I think I can do for

         14  you is kind of make generally taking this from

         15  bigger areas and tell you what we are doing to

         16  remedy the problems.

         17                 I know the heating system has been a

         18  source of concern, we're fixing the boilers, we're

         19  fixing the outside field tanks that are associated

         20  with the fuel that is used to fill the boilers,

         21  we're fixing the leaks that are within the piping

         22  system in the building.  When you look at things

         23  like the venting system or cleaning vents, some of

         24  this stuff is actually relatively straight- forward,

         25  some of it is just deferred maintenance, to be
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          2  frank, over the years.  So vents which hadn't been

          3  cleaned for many years, for a lot of good reasons,

          4  we're going to actually take them out, clean them,

          5  go through the whole venting system and clean it

          6  out, that would make a huge difference, plumbing

          7  works, repair works, leaking we're going to repair

          8  it, where sinks are broken we're going to fix them

          9  or replace them.  Electrical systems are actually in

         10  fairly good shape in the building, but when there is

         11  a problem we're going to fix it.  We're doing things

         12  like adding in security systems that were not in the

         13  building, which will make a huge difference

         14  operationally, and we will probably go onto other

         15  general work addressing all the areas.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON ROBINSON:  What is the

         17  time frame of the completion of these repairs within

         18  the facility?

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER APPLE:  Well, as

         20  the Commissioner said, that we're starting to meet

         21  this September deadline.  We're working every day on

         22  this, I think we will get pretty close to it, you

         23  know, that is our goal, and we're not going to move

         24  in until the work is done.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON ROBINSON:  You're not
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          2  going to move in until the work is done?

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER APPLE:  Well, the

          4  kind of work that we need to do is actually where we

          5  can't come into the building.

          6                 Now what you may see after we move

          7  in, we're going to see some stuff on the outside of

          8  the building, because repair, carpenter workers,

          9  work on the outside, and that may be done depending

         10  on the nature after we complete, our goal is to

         11  finish the full in three months.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON ROBINSON:  Okay, thank

         13  you.  Council Member Espada.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER ESPADA:  Thank you.

         15  Commissioner, good afternoon.  I just have to figure

         16  it out because Council Member Fisher stated prior,

         17  and I'm stating it now, I'm just very confused.  How

         18  is it that there can be a growth in the population

         19  that you deal with and not be an increase in youth

         20  crime?

         21                 COMMISSIONER HERNANDEZ:  In reality

         22  what Deputy Commissioner Apple has indicated to you

         23  is that we have been, for the last year, looking at

         24  the population very closely.  I would think that

         25  most of us by now recognize that there has been an
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          2  overall reduction in crime in New York City, and if

          3  we look at the statistics, we can also can see that

          4  there has been a reduction in juvenile crime.  What

          5  we're seeing, as Doug had indicated earlier, is that

          6  we have young people that are coming into the system

          7  for a variety of reasons.  One, is that we have more

          8  complex cases because there are young people coming

          9  in with multiple cases, which can include cases both

         10  in family and criminal court, or several cases in

         11  criminal court.  We are also being impacted by other

         12  systems that, for instance, the State Office of

         13  Children and Family Services, where you can trade,

         14  issue warrants, or detain young people that have not

         15  complied with conditions of their release from state

         16  systems, as well as probation, which is part of the

         17  supervision process, one of the things that they do

         18  is to remand someone back into custody.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER ESPADA:  I'm still

         20  kind of not sure, so what you're saying is that

         21  somehow or another without them actually physically

         22  getting arrested, you're using more beds.  More beds

         23  are being used in the facility without the children

         24  getting arrested?

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER APPLE:  It really
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          2  is a factor of having a slight increase in

          3  population, but more importantly a factor of more

          4  complex cases which has extended them at this state

          5  to young people in custody.  And Councilman, our

          6  system is rather small, so it's not that you're

          7  talking, we're not analogous to the Department of

          8  Correction, for instance, so that if we have 40, 50

          9  young people that have an extended length of stay it

         10  impacts on the system, it's a small system.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER ESPADA:  Right, and

         12  that is the problem that we have because that is

         13  what has led to the additional facilities.  It is an

         14  impact when a small number of children have to stay

         15  longer if something happens, so we have a growth in

         16  the system.

         17                 How many beds are being used

         18  currently right now?

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER APPLE:  We have a

         20  total 348 beds, 124 at Crossroads, 124 at Horizon,

         21  and we're using 100 beds, temporarily in Vernon C.

         22  Bain.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER ESPADA:  So in all,

         24  348 beds would be currently used, 353?

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER APPLE:  Yes, we
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          2  also have an additional four beds at each facility

          3  that serve our specialized youth.  So it's 129 at

          4  each facility.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER ESPADA:  So how many

          6  beds are you looking to use in the new Spofford, in

          7  the new, old Spofford?

          8                 COMMISSIONER HERNANDEZ:  We're

          9  looking to use the A, B, C wings.   One wing will be

         10  for programmatic and administrative space, the two

         11  wings that serve as dormitory space equal the

         12  capacity of 150.

         13                 My position on this, Councilman, is

         14  that rather than to be a situation where we're

         15  managing by crisis or by emergency by putting a

         16  burden on two facilities by going over our capacity

         17  and then having to have additional staff there and

         18  also creating a problem with the quality of service

         19  that we deliver.  I rather have the maximum or the

         20  optimal capacity, because I always have the option

         21  of being able to close down dorms at the end of the

         22  day.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER ESPADA:  Well, but the

         24  problem is that the community doesn't have the

         25  option, and that really is a concern of my people
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          2  here, is that we don't have the option of whether or

          3  not if those beds get used and how they get used,

          4  and who is coming on in, how very wrong these things

          5  happen.  Because first it was a commitment to close

          6  it, then the commitment became to use Vernon C.

          7  Bain, some of the very politicians of the State

          8  said, Vernon C. Bain is a bad idea, you're growing

          9  up something that shouldn't be done, and yet, still

         10  Vernon C. Bain ended up being used.

         11                 Now we're being told, you know what,

         12  they were right, we're going to go back over to

         13  where we started from and we're going to stay there

         14  for a while, and then in the meanwhile people who

         15  are here now, people in this community who were

         16  waiting for something new and dynamic to happen at

         17  Spofford.

         18                 Now I think that, you know, after

         19  reviewing it myself and having gone there it

         20  probably would not have been a youth center at

         21  Spofford, but something new, something different,

         22  something better was a promise saying that is what

         23  we had hoped to receive.  So the problem is that the

         24  community does not have the option, we're told only

         25  what the options are of DJJ of running the facility,
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          2  but it's the community that we're concerned about

          3  now, because they're the ones that have take the

          4  burden of the errors that have been made.  You know

          5  what, and I have said it time and time again, not by

          6  you, I mean you are the new guy in the City, you

          7  have been here for a whole year.  But this is a

          8  problem that somebody needed to address in very

          9  little time limit.

         10                 How many beds are there to the

         11  Spofford facility here?  Because you say A, B, C,

         12  meaning A, B, C, means, we don't know what that

         13  means.

         14                 COMMISSIONER HERNANDEZ:  I actually

         15  have a diagram that would show the entire complex

         16  that is open.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER ESPADA:  How much

         18  space do you think you won't be using in the new

         19  Spofford?

         20                 COMMISSIONER HERNANDEZ:  We're

         21  essentially using, I would say, as a rule, less than

         22  half of the entire complex.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER ESPADA:  Now is there

         24  any way that those unused spaces could be used for

         25  something else, used for a more practical community
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          2  use or something of that nature?

          3                 COMMISSIONER HERNANDEZ:  I have not,

          4  at this point, made any determinations as to the

          5  utilizations of the rest of the space.  I did know

          6  and I did recognize, and I agree with you that I

          7  inherited the decisions that were made about

          8  capacity, decisions that were made with the three

          9  Administrations ago, have been working very hard to

         10  correct that problem.  I recognize in discussions

         11  with the Chairman, as well as yourself and people in

         12  the community that they had a longstanding interest

         13  in using Spofford as a community center.  I was

         14  sensitive to that issue, I really thought that it

         15  was unrealistic to be looking at Spofford as the

         16  location for that, and I think that you and I both

         17  agree that you would have regarded an enormous

         18  contribution of funds to be able to renovate the

         19  building for that purpose.

         20                 And again, when I met with the Mayor

         21  about our capacity needs I indicated that the

         22  community had an interest of a youth center and he

         23  indicated that he would fund a new one, which I

         24  believe you're involved in the planning of that, as

         25  well.  I did have some concerns about co-locating a
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          2  youth center, which is more preventative, with a

          3  detention center.  So the position that I took was

          4  to let's look to see if we can find an existing

          5  building for the youth center or build a new one,

          6  which I thought was a more optimal position for the

          7  community.

          8                 As far as the rest of the facility,

          9  it is our intention right now to have it blocked off

         10  and not use it, I have not really move beyond that

         11  to figure out whether or not we need to meet our

         12  purposes, in that particular section of the

         13  building.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER ESPADA:  Is it at all

         15  feasible that that will cause a more bad than good

         16  in not using that entire section of the facility?

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER APPLE:  We don't

         18  think so.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER ESPADA:  A piece of

         20  the facility will lay dormant forever how long you

         21  are going to be there.

         22                 COMMISSIONER HERNANDEZ:  When we're

         23  repairing the systems we will make sure that the

         24  building, that that side of the building has all of

         25  its systems in place.  We certainly from a security
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          2  point of view will make sure that it is secure.  We

          3  actually have the building secured now, we have our

          4  security people there now.  And I would be willing

          5  to have conversations with you, although I am not

          6  going to be talking to you about the use of the

          7  building, but there is some interest that you may

          8  have concerning the rest of the building, I would be

          9  willing to talk to you about it.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER ESPADA:  I would, I

         11  just have one final question and then I will leave

         12  it to my colleagues who also have some questions.  I

         13  guess the big question for the Hunts Point

         14  community, the people who have tolerate the new, old

         15  Spofford is, what does that look like, and how long

         16  are we talking about until we could hope and wish

         17  for something else to be in the corner of Spofford?

         18                 COMMISSIONER HERNANDEZ:  The part of

         19  the reason why I have not any plan to utilize the

         20  entire building, or the building in its entity was

         21  because we were looking at using Spofford for a

         22  period of time until we went through a feasibility

         23  study on how to build to capacity.  Depending on how

         24  our plans are, come to fruition, it is our intention

         25  to just say at Spofford, temporarily. It is very
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          2  difficult for me to project now, in my mind, I have

          3  been looking at a time frame of three to five years.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON ROBINSON:  Thank you.

          5  Council Member Clarke.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE:  Thank you,

          7  Madam Chair.  Let me just follow the question of my

          8  colleague, how temporary is temporary for Spofford,

          9  is there an outside limited time that you call

         10  temporary, because some things are temporary for six

         11  months, and some are temporary for like 60 years, so

         12  can you give us what temporary means to you?

         13                 COMMISSIONER HERNANDEZ:  I would hope

         14  that the Council members and the Committee would see

         15  that I have tried to work with the Council in good

         16  faith and made a commitment to you for Vernon C.

         17  Bain on a temporary basis, and I'm doing everything

         18  humanly possible to make sure that that it is

         19  temporary and we will be able to move out of Vernon

         20  C. Bain.

         21                 My predicament at this moment is that

         22  I have the Department of Design and Construction

         23  actually conducting a feasibility study, and I think

         24  that I would be more prepared to be able to answer

         25  that question.  But our intention as an agency has
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          2  been to be able to give the community a youth

          3  center, to occupy Spofford probably three to five-

          4  year period, and at some point then move out of the

          5  building in its entire.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE:  Okay, some of

          7  the questions for me come around the rising of the

          8  population of young people and whether in fact they

          9  have been placed, and I am not at all minimizing it

         10  that there are some young people that will never do

         11  well on the outside, but I want to get some sense of

         12  when the you use statistics how dangerous they

         13  become and how troubling it becomes for me at the

         14  communities that I represent, because what we do we

         15  get in the minds of community kind of people that

         16  things are so bad with these young people that they

         17  will never be able to be rehabilitated, and that is

         18  why we need to lock them up and put away the keys.

         19                 When I think of the City Council,

         20  there were a number of live and competitive programs

         21  for young people that had to do with diversion, that

         22  had to do with family ties, that had to do with some

         23  kind of involvement with young people to divert them

         24  from, if they could be kept out of these places,

         25  there are no more. And it seems to me that is one of
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          2  the reasons that the population is going up.  Not at

          3  all to minimize the rise of youth gangs, so we want

          4  to separate those youngsters who can be with family

          5  given proper support systems.  I want to know if in

          6  all of these plans, how do we look at some abatement

          7  and creative programs for first time youngsters that

          8  they come in, even second time youngsters who given

          9  a proper support could function outside of the new

         10  Spofford, the two new facilities, or even on the

         11  boat over there, how do you separate the group path,

         12  what is it possible to do?

         13                 COMMISSIONER HERNANDEZ:  Well, I

         14  would say, Councilwoman, that I agree with you in

         15  that my personal philosophy is one that I have been

         16  using it as an organizational philosophy, is that we

         17  have a twofold mission.  One is that we protect the

         18  public safety by detaining the people that must be

         19  detained.  And on the other hand, I do believe that

         20  there are ways that we might be able intervene with

         21  young people in ways that will interrupt, or at

         22  least, give them possible alternatives so that they

         23  don't move onto more serious criminal activities.

         24                 I intend to look at it from a system

         25  point of view, or at least from the point of view of
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          2  continuum.  So I would say that in our system there

          3  is always a co-existence of young people that must

          4  be detained because they do pose a real public

          5  safety problem, but I also think that in our system

          6  sometimes there are young people that probably with

          7  a set of interventions could become productive

          8  members of the community.

          9                 So I'm approaching it really from

         10  several ways.  One way they are approaching it is

         11  that we have been working collaboratively with the

         12  Department of Youth Community and Development,

         13  certainly there are ways that we can utilize the

         14  Beacons programs in a more effective way.  We have

         15  also been feeding data to the YCD around their

         16  planning, they have, I don't know if they have, they

         17  are about ready to release a youth violence

         18  prevention program, and we have asked, well, they

         19  haven't released it, I'm being told, but we have

         20  been working very closely with them on target areas

         21  and where we might begin admission so that they

         22  could have some preventive programs implemented in

         23  those areas as well.

         24                 We are, in terms of the system,

         25  itself, it is not my philosophy to necessarily give
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          2  up on young people even though they have committed

          3  some crimes and may be in the system.  We have some

          4  young people have committed very serious crimes, it

          5  is very clear that they will be moving up and going

          6  onto State facilities, but we also have juvenile

          7  people there for JD charges and maybe with some

          8  assistance might be able to become productive

          9  members of the community.  Therefore, we are going

         10  through the process of really enhancing all of our

         11  programs with this.  As I have indicated, we have

         12  increased our health services, we have found ways to

         13  be able to increase our mental health services.  We

         14  will also bring health promotions and these

         15  prevention services into our system as well as some

         16  mental health services.

         17                 We have the point of view that we

         18  also have young people that experience violence,

         19  crime, and victimization that could be contributing

         20  to some of their behavioral problems, so that is

         21  something that we're excited about that we want to

         22  implement this year.

         23                 We also hoping to keep our planning

         24  process in our aftercare because we do believe that

         25  we have to find ways of being, in the two programs
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          2  that I do mention have very strong discharge

          3  planning functions that lead people into mental

          4  health programs to get them each the primary care if

          5  they have a medical problem, and we're also going to

          6  be looking at ways of being able to re integrate

          7  young people into the community with the supports

          8  that they will need.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE:  Since I'm

         10  Chair of Mental Health, I'm always going to ask a

         11  mental health question, and let me just, if a

         12  youngster comes in and the prime diagnosis for what

         13  precipitated the incident that got them arrested was

         14  due to a mental health problem, what becomes the

         15  driving force, does the mental health come first or

         16  does the criminal act come first, and how is that

         17  youngster treated?

         18                 COMMISSIONER HERNANDEZ: Obviously

         19  from the criminal and family court perspective,

         20  this is a young person who is being adjudicated and

         21  has to be held responsible for the behavior.  We do

         22  go through a process of being able to evaluate young

         23  people in those instances where we feel that they

         24  have a mental health problem, we try to address

         25  that.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE:  If somebody

          3  is mentally ill, let's try to figure it out here

          4  now, somebody is mentally ill, how do you make the

          5  criminal act that results from not being able to

          6  function, not being able to discern between right

          7  and wrong, that the wrong becomes the primary thing

          8  rather than the mental illness? I'm just trying to

          9  figure out the young people, in particular, who come

         10  in the system, and will probably come once, twice,

         11  four, five, six, for any number of times, especially

         12  if they be come chronically, mentally ill and are

         13  not being treated or are being treated just for the

         14  little time that they are in your facility and then

         15  let out on the street and then come back, how do you

         16  track them, how do you make sure that a treatment

         17  plan becomes the first plan for them rather than the

         18  criminal act?

         19                 COMMISSIONER HERNANDEZ:  In reality

         20  the court system has ways to indicate evaluating, we

         21  evaluate them - -

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE:  You do know

         23  that, excuse me, Commissioner, that the court system

         24  just want to get rid of them. They won't have a real

         25  plan, and I'm just asking you because you are a
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          2  receiving agency and because you raise the issue of

          3  mental health in your testimony, I want to know

          4  whether we can come up with something strategically

          5  viable for youngsters that are mentally ill or who

          6  come into the system as the result of mental

          7  illness, so that they will be treated, continued to

          8  be treated, have some case management that would

          9  keep them out of the system and into the mental

         10  health system, while they are under DJJ system,

         11  because it seems to me that because we you don't

         12  send them to psychiatric hospitals and psychiatric

         13  institutions that everybody mentions it, they end up

         14  in the DJJ system rather than in a treatment system.

         15                 COMMISSIONER HERNANDEZ:

         16  Respectfully, Councilwoman, you know this is an area

         17  that you have tremendous expertise in, I'm looking

         18  at very closely.  At the end of the day when you

         19  talk about chronic, mentally ill, the number of

         20  young people that come into our system that are

         21  chronically mentally ill are very small.  They do,

         22  however, require an inordinate amount of time.  We

         23  have had success with a few that we have been able

         24  to get into psychiatric services, and have been able

         25  to appeal to the court that the better thing for
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          2  them or the better way of them getting  their needs

          3  addressed have been the mental health system, the

          4  numbers with those have been small.

          5                 We have a bigger problem with

          6  population or the population and their first

          7  knowledge is sort of something that I would be

          8  willing to sit down and talk to you or anyone else,

          9  because we're looking for some solutions to that.

         10  That is one of the reasons why I'm bringing in some

         11  additional mental health services to be able to

         12  assess that as soon as possible.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON ROBINSON:  Thank you.

         14  Councilwoman Clarke, I would just like to say that

         15  perhaps we could do further discussion on that

         16  regarding mental health services at putting young

         17  people in prison and the correlation with that.

         18                 I would also like to acknowledge

         19  Council Member Angel Rodriguez from Brooklyn.  The

         20  next person to ask questions will be Council Member

         21  Lopez.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  Good

         23  afternoon, Commissioner. I want to congratulate you

         24  for sending me the information I requested a year

         25  ago.  This information finally got to me last week,
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          2  but it has not gotten into my hands because it was

          3  sent to the Council, and I have just been informed

          4  that this information was sent to the Council, the

          5  person of the Council came to tell me. A year ago, I

          6  asked you for this information, and again, I want to

          7  congratulate for getting it to me last week,

          8  although I haven't got it in my hands yet.  And the

          9  information that I asked is precisely the

         10  information that Councilwoman Clarke asked from you.

         11                 It is an issue here that is very

         12  important for you people to address, and it request

         13  the problem and what you people have in place to

         14  deal with mental illness in this institution and the

         15  problem that you have in dealing with medical

         16  emergencies.  I don't know if the information that

         17  you sent last week have that in there.  I'm going to

         18  review that, I'm going to get to the bottom of where

         19  that information got to.  But if that information is

         20  not there, I'm going to come back, and I want

         21  Councilwoman Annette Robinson to understand and to

         22  Council Member Ken Fisher that this information is

         23  really for this Committee, and it really is because

         24  it is the only way we can figure it out if you are

         25  serving the population that is in there in regard to
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          2  mental health and health in general.

          3                 The last time I was visiting this

          4  place, I went to the psychiatric unit that you have

          5  there.  I saw, at least, 50 binders for psychiatric

          6  services, that means that at least 50 people were

          7  receiving psychiatric services in there.  And part

          8  of the reason that I wanted to see that probable, is

          9  that I wanted to know how many times a week a

         10  psychiatrist sees them, who is on medication there,

         11  how many medications are provided to them, what are

         12  the medications that are provided to them?  If the

         13  medications are for severe mental illness, then why

         14  are those people in there and not in the psychiatric

         15  institution?  That is the reason I wanted that

         16  information, and we know that you know that that was

         17  a reason that I wanted it.  Well, I am going to give

         18  you the information as soon as I get in my hands,

         19  and I'm coming back, and I suggest that this

         20  Committee crack very hard on this issue, because I

         21  have the suspicion that the young people who are in

         22  this institution, many of them should be in

         23  psychiatric hospital and not there.  And I have the

         24  suspicion that many of them have been sent there

         25  because the system has not taken care of this
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          2  problem in the way that it should be taken care of.

          3                 Saying that, forgive me for being so

          4  ignorant and not understanding your explanation

          5  before.  You gave the explanation to Council Member

          6  Ken Fisher and Council Member Pedro Espada, I still

          7  don't understand how is it that your making this

          8  address, their is more people in the system.  Can

          9  you just swing back one more time for me, for me to

         10  understand that, when you say that it is there is

         11  more complicated cases, can you explain a

         12  complicated case for me, as a case in point for me

         13  to understand what it is that you're talking about?

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER APPLE:

         15  Councilwoman, the issue is not just that the

         16  individual cases were complicated, it's that kids

         17  who come into our system have more than one case,

         18  that youth can make into detention on, let's say, he

         19  is arrested for a robbery case, they also have other

         20  cases that are still pending either in Family Court

         21  or Criminal Court.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  But that is

         23  not what the Commissioner said, he said that family

         24  situation make it more complicated, that is what he

         25  said a few minutes ago.  He mentioned that these
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          2  cases are more complicated because there are many

          3  factors involved in it.  Can you, please, explain

          4  the factors?

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER APPLE:  What I'm

          6  talking about, remember the kids that come into our

          7  system come in because they enter the criminal

          8  justice process.  They have been arrested, they have

          9  an open warrant, they started from OCF or a State

         10  facility, they have been brought in by probation

         11  because they have violated a condition of probation.

         12    So kids come to us as a result of some indication

         13  or some action within the criminal justice system or

         14  the juvenile justice system.

         15                 Those kids that come to us,

         16  obviously, as the Commissioner talked about and as

         17  you are well aware and as Councilwoman Clarke was

         18  discussing, that many issues that are facing them.

         19  But what I'm talking about is the sort of - -

         20                 CHAIRPERSON ROBINSON:  If I may,

         21  Council member, I just want to interrupt on that in

         22  terms of, do we have any children that are being

         23  counted today, that should be in non- security

         24  detention that is not in non- security detention

         25  today, that you counted?
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER APPLE:

          3  Councilwoman, that issue is under litigation and - -

          4                 CHAIRPERSON ROBINSON:  It is under

          5  litigation?  Are you saying to me that it is

          6  question because those children should have been

          7  moved out of Spofford and they're still there, is

          8  that what you are saying to me today?

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER APPLE:  No.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON ROBINSON:  And that is

         11  why it is under litigation?

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER APPLE:  No, what

         13  I'm saying is that the agency - -

         14                 CHAIRPERSON ROBINSON:  Well, since

         15  you cannot discuss it, what is the complaint, you

         16  see, I'm not a lawyer, so what is the complaint?

         17  The lawyer is telling me that that is the right

         18  question, what is the complaint that is being

         19  alleged in this lawsuit?

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER APPLE:  The

         21  complaint drawn by the Legal Aid Society is that the

         22  agency is placing a secure detect a specific re-

         23  mass NSD and open re-mass NSD in secure detention,

         24  that is the complaint.  The issue is up under

         25  litigation, we have been advised by counsel not to
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          2  address that.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON ROBINSON:  Okay, so you

          4  cannot address that.  Okay, so that tells us exactly

          5   - -

          6                 COMMISSIONER HERNANDEZ:  If I may?

          7                 CHAIRPERSON ROBINSON:  Yes.

          8                 COMMISSIONER HERNANDEZ:  I wanted to

          9  just respond to Council Member Lopez.  One of the

         10  things that I did say about the population that

         11  related to families was that we had piloted a

         12  project with ACS, because we had discovered that we

         13  had young people that would remain in detention

         14  because they did not have a legal guardian that

         15  would be able to show up in court so that they could

         16  be released into the community.  I mean they were

         17  really being charge with low- level crimes, and we

         18  felt that they did not need to be in detention, but

         19  because they could not identify a guardian they were

         20  not being released.  So we piloted a project called,

         21  Project Confirm, so we work closely with ACS to make

         22  sure that the guardian shows up in court as the

         23  young person does, hence or thus, they usually get

         24  released to the community when they go to court.  So

         25  that is one of the distinction.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  Wait, let me

          3  see if I understand you clear, because I think I do

          4  now, but I want to make sure.  You said that you

          5  have young people that are the lessor, minors  in

          6  your facility who at this particular moment don't

          7  need to spend there because they don't have any

          8  criminal activity that they committed that is a

          9  reason to keep in there and the reason is because

         10  they don't have a guardian to go to?

         11                 COMMISSIONER HERNANDEZ:  No, I'm not

         12  saying that.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  Then please

         14  clarify it?

         15                 COMMISSIONER HERNANDEZ:  What I'm

         16  saying is that we have young people in the system

         17  that are under the custody of ACS, the

         18  Administration for Children Services, who have

         19  committed a crime.  When the judges are making a

         20  determination about whether or not that young person

         21  can be in the community or needs to be detained, one

         22  of the factors that they look at is whether or not

         23  there is a responsible adult that could be

         24  responsible for that individual.  We have learned

         25  through some of our analyses that we had young
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          2  people in ACS custody that would not have an adult

          3  show up at court because they were not with their

          4  biological parents, they were in foster care program

          5  or some other ACS programs.  We worked out a

          6  protocol so that we can immediately match to see

          7  where young people under ACS's custody that there by

          8  being able to notify the program that their young

          9  person has been arrested and has a court appearance.

         10    That has resulted in the program being able to

         11  send a legal guardian to the court to be able to be

         12  responsible for the young person, thus the judge can

         13  make the determination that detention may not be in

         14  order, that that young person can live outside in

         15  the program.

         16                 We piloted that program, it looks

         17  like it is a successful program, we're going to do

         18  it some more.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER:  Commissioner,

         20  could you provide us with a copy of the protocol or

         21  any additional information in regard to that?

         22                 COMMISSIONER HERNANDEZ:  Sure, yes.

         23  This was a pilot project that we worked out with

         24  bureau - -

         25                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER:  Well, just as a
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          2  footnote to Council Member Lopez's remarks about

          3  that mental health protocol, I know that this is one

          4  of these things where nobody likes to hear this, but

          5  I received a letter from you, I think, Commissioner,

          6  transmitted to me a copy of what had been sent to

          7  Council Member Lopez a couple of months ago, except

          8  that there was nothing in the envelope, it was just,

          9  it was an empty envelope, so I think that was

         10  important.

         11                 Council Member Perkins.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS:  Thank you.

         13  These horror stories just keep coming and especially

         14  as they relate to what is happening with our young

         15  people, and the institutions that they seem to

         16  always wind up here and when we seem to always find

         17  justifications for having it there, and

         18  justifications for keeping it there longer, and even

         19  I think with applying logic, such as the questions

         20  that my colleagues have asked in terms of how rates

         21  go down and everything else goes up.  But clearly

         22  this is because there is a design in the system to

         23  keep them in jail, to keep them there longer, and to

         24  perpetuate what has become a sort of prison

         25  industrial complex in terms of it seems that we are
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          2  building prisons or detention centers, however you

          3  want to call them, that house our young people and

          4  continue to grow in terms of the needs for them to

          5  be in prison, so it's just a horrible situation.

          6                 How large is your budget, by the way,

          7  for emergency, how much is your total budget?  How

          8  much are we spending to keep these kids in jail?

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER APPLE:  Our total

         10  budget is about, off the top of my head, Councilman,

         11  is about 97 million.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS:  Ninety-

         13  seven million?

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER APPLE:  Of that

         15  97 million about 56 million, so well over half is

         16  actually money that we pay to the State.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS:  You pay that

         18  to the State?

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER APPLE:  So with

         20  our operating budget it is about 40 million.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS:  So it's

         22  about 40 million. How much of that money are we

         23  spending on Spofford?  How much are you planning on

         24  spending to reopen Spofford?

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER APPLE:  In terms
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          2  of operating costs for Spofford, we will be spending

          3  a little over of $5 million.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS:  And how are

          5  you going to spend to reopen it?

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER APPLE:  The

          7  capital costs?

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS:  Yes.

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER APPLE:  For the

         10  renovation?

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS:  Yes.

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER APPLE:  It's

         13  seven million.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS:  Seven

         15  million.  And have you submitted a plan to the New

         16  York State Office of Children and Family Services?

         17                 COMMISSIONER HERNANDEZ:  For

         18  renovations of Spofford?

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS:  Yes.

         20                 COMMISSIONER HERNANDEZ:  Yes, we

         21  have.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS:  And have

         23  they responded to the plan or do they respond to

         24  your plan?

         25                 COMMISSIONER HERNANDEZ:  We wanted to
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          2  alternate submitting a plan to the Office of

          3  Children and Family Services which was approved by

          4  the Office of Children and Family Services to do the

          5  renovations.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS:  Can we get a

          7  chance to see that plan, can we have a copy of that

          8  plan, is that a public document?

          9                 COMMISSIONER HERNANDEZ:  Let me

         10  explain to you, Councilman, how this works.

         11  Essentially the way that we handle the opening of a

         12  facility is that we're in communication and

         13  discussion with OCFS on a regular basis.  So what we

         14  have right now is a situation where Deputy

         15  Commissioner Reno and his staff met with the various

         16  other counterparts at OCFS and had detailed

         17  discussion about this, and they initiate conceptual

         18  approval for us to move forward.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS:  They gave

         20  you conceptual approval?

         21                 COMMISSIONER HERNANDEZ:  Yes.  The

         22  way that it works after that is that there have to

         23  be a detailed application has to be submitted, and

         24  then after that they will come down and do an

         25  inspection.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS:  So they give

          3  you conceptual approval to move forward to do what?

          4                 COMMISSIONER HERNANDEZ:  To do the

          5  renovations because - -

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS:  To actually

          7  to do the work, okay, got it.  And then later on the

          8  details will be reviewed?

          9                 COMMISSIONER HERNANDEZ:  Then the

         10  protocol calls for us to submit a very detailed

         11  plan, which cover everything from security to

         12  physical plan to services, et cetera, staffing that

         13  goes to them, it's a more detailed packet.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS:  And that

         15  goes to them before the people go in?

         16                 COMMISSIONER HERNANDEZ:  Yes, they

         17  then come down to do an inspection and then certify

         18  the facility.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS:  And when do

         20  you anticipate of submitting that detailed plan?

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER APPLE:  We

         22  generally, what generally we do is we are at 95

         23  percent completion of all renovations.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS:  And that is

         25  in September?
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER APPLE:  It will

          3  probably be just before September, maybe in August.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS:  So August or

          5  September. And then they will review your detailed

          6  submission and optimistically respond favorably in a

          7  week, or in a month, or how long before they respond

          8  to your detailed plan?

          9                 COMMISSIONER HERNANDEZ:  They already

         10  know the level of renovations and had input into the

         11  things that they wanted to see done in the physical

         12  plans, renovation.  So the purpose of their visit is

         13  just to make sure that we have complied with all the

         14  requirements and all of the things that we said that

         15  we would do.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS:  On the

         17  capital side?

         18                 COMMISSIONER HERNANDEZ:  No, well it

         19  encompasses the entire operation.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS:  All right.

         21  So at what point do they sign off on the detailed

         22  plans is exactly how the place is going to operate?

         23                 COMMISSIONER HERNANDEZ:  They

         24  generally do that at the inspections.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS:  So we figure

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            59

          1  YOUTH SERVICES AND JUVENILE JUSTICE

          2  September, October, November?

          3                 COMMISSIONER HERNANDEZ:  No, we're

          4  talking probably a week.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS:  A week, so

          6  that by the end of September you should have the

          7  building will be ready, your approvals from the

          8  State will done, and by October we start moving

          9  people in?

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER APPLE:  That is

         11  not the plan.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS:  Well what do

         13  you project, I'm just trying to get a clear

         14  understanding of when you plan on moving in?

         15                 COMMISSIONER HERNANDEZ:  We're

         16  aggressively targeting September for the completion

         17  of the renovations, probably when we're at about 95

         18  percent completion we will then submit an

         19  application to the State Office of Children and

         20  Family Services. They will generally come down

         21  probably within a week and inspect the facility and

         22  make a determination.  This is a facility that is

         23  used as a detention center before, so it has been

         24  certified.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS:  Some of the
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          2  concerns that were raised were programmatic, that is

          3  one of the reasons why we're turning to the staff,

          4  so that Councilwomen Clarke and Lopez raised

          5  particularly questions about mental health.  And so

          6  I'm just wondering does the State sign off on those?

          7                 COMMISSIONER HERNANDEZ:  We are

          8  required by the State to offer rate services, they

          9  have specific requirements around staff that the

         10  rate shows the average that we provide health,

         11  mental health services, as well as recreation and

         12  education centers.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS:  One of the

         14  things that I am not clear about is, is this a

         15  temporary arrangement or a permanent arrangement,

         16  are you all going to use Spofford as a prison

         17  forever or is it going to be some of a temporary

         18  detention facility?

         19                 COMMISSIONER HERNANDEZ:  The plans,

         20  as I articulated in the past was that we would use

         21  Spofford temporarily, while we examine the

         22  feasibility of being able to build prime capacity.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS:  That is your

         24  plans, but today you're saying?

         25                 COMMISSIONER HERNANDEZ:  I'm saying
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          2  the same thing.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS:  You're

          4  saying the same thing.

          5                 COMMISSIONER HERNANDEZ:  And the only

          6  reason that I hesitated is that the Department of

          7  Design and Construction hasn't finished that

          8  feasibility study to see if that is in the general

          9  protocol.  But our intention is to stay at Spofford

         10  temporarily, and it has to be recertified for most

         11  of the tests every year.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS:  So if worse

         13  comes to worse and if the Department of Design and

         14  Construction takes its time, how long do you think

         15  that they would be temporarily there, temporarily

         16  there for five years, temporarily there for 10

         17  years?

         18                 COMMISSIONER HERNANDEZ:  They're

         19  giving us a projection of three to five years.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS:  Three to

         21  five years?

         22                 COMMISSIONER HERNANDEZ:  That is

         23  right.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS:  And do you

         25  anticipate at the rate in which you are keeping, at
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          2  the rate in which young people are going, staying in

          3  detention, you know, as the rest are coming down the

          4  population is increasing, do you anticipate that the

          5  population will increase to the extent that the part

          6  of the facility which you are presently not using

          7  will eventually have to be used over the next five

          8  years?

          9                 COMMISSIONER HERNANDEZ:  That is not

         10  a projection that we are currently making, we have

         11  no plans to use it.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS:  Well, why

         13  wouldn't you say a projection like that?  Because

         14  you are telling us that the population is going to

         15  continue to grow, where will it go in the next three

         16  to five years, do you anticipate it going down, do

         17  you anticipate it continuing to grow, do you have

         18  another place to put people?

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER APPLE:

         20  Councilman, projection in the system are very

         21  difficult, they change every day, it is a very small

         22  system.  We think that by putting 150 beds at

         23  Spofford, which is really 50 more than we have at

         24  the VCBC, we built a cushion in for the next three

         25  years.  If you ask me to project beyond that, it is
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          2  a projection that is quite difficult.

          3                 COMMISSIONER HERNANDEZ:  And I would

          4  add, also, that one of the things that we did this

          5  year, was to expand our non secure detention

          6  capacity in our group homes and really to make

          7  contracts there, and that is something that we

          8  continue to look at. So we really attack the problem

          9  on two fronts.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS:   Let me just

         11  be clear, because, just one more question, the last

         12  time, last year, we thought we had enough, didn't

         13  we, and we really didn't expect you to be back

         14  reopening Spofford last year, did we?  When we came

         15  this way, I thought that Spofford was closed and

         16  that was the end of that.

         17                 COMMISSIONER HERNANDEZ:  No, what I

         18  said last year was that because of the decisions

         19  that had been made prior to this Administration we

         20  were going to move into two new facilities that

         21  combined gave us less capacity than Spofford.  Thus,

         22  I made a decision at that time to occupy Vernon C.

         23  Bain, which I knew it was controversial.  I made a

         24  commitment that we would be there temporarily while

         25  we looked for some sort of long- term options.
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          2                 In the interim I was able to begin a

          3  study the history of Spofford and the problems, but

          4  I do recognize as Councilwoman Annette Robinson as

          5  indicated, it has a long controversial history.  I

          6  knew that the problems fell into two general areas,

          7  one, was the problem of failure, which when you look

          8  at the history and the chronologically that I would

          9  be willing to share with the City Council, a lot of

         10  those problems really were dramatically and

         11  significantly reduced with the creation of this

         12  agency.  I don't take credit for that, I wasn't here

         13  in 1979, I have only been here a year, but that is

         14  the end of physical plan problems at Spofford, which

         15  was to remain there and it was untenable.

         16                 Being in Vernon C. Bain had given me

         17  an opportunity to take a look at Spofford to look at

         18  the problems there.  I have made it very clear that

         19  I rather be in control, for DJJ to be in control of

         20  its portfolio.  I'm grateful for the Department of

         21  Corrections for cooperating with us for that, I do

         22  not want to occupy that facility any longer than

         23  necessary.  Moreover, I understood the emotionality

         24  about using, the conception of using an adult

         25  facility, so I was trying to comply also with some
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          2  of the concerns of the community and the City

          3  Council in being able to do that.

          4                 But we have had capacity problems

          5  that were created by decisions that were made before

          6  our time.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS:  Thank you

          8  very much.  I just want to conclude by saying that I

          9  am very, very skeptical, no, disrespect to you

         10  personally, that this whole in the manner in which

         11  these children are being handled, locked up, and

         12  prepared for the State prisons and prepared to stay

         13  in the system, and I don't trust that the kinds of

         14  analysis that you're doing and the kind of

         15  projections that you're doing and kind of projection

         16  that you have, because I find that one minute we're

         17  saying we're going to close this facility now,

         18  another minute we're on a barge and we're trying to

         19  justify the use of the barge, and then decide that

         20  we're sensitive to the use of the barge, and now we

         21  want to go back to Spofford.  This seems to be a

         22  very disingenuous approach, and I get the feeling

         23  that it is because of the children that are

         24  involved. So I want to make sure that you understand

         25  me, and thank you very much, and I guess, you will
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          2  be submitting some budget requests to the Council to

          3  pursue this here travesty.

          4                 COMMISSIONER HERNANDEZ:  I have to

          5  say that I take note and your remarks, let me give

          6  you time because this is an agency that also works

          7  well with young people and has been able to take

          8  many young people and make them productive members

          9  of a community, that is something that we do, and it

         10  is something that we work in collaboration with the

         11  Department of Youth Community and Development to do,

         12  and I'm sure of all this question about submitting,

         13  I'm not understanding your budget question.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS:  I guess on

         15  the budget part, it is the budget that you actually

         16  have to come to Council related to this Spofford

         17  situation.

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER APPLE:  I assume

         19  that the Council, when it is in process, I will City

         20  jobs budget.  Yes, there will be a process.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON ROBINSON:  Thank you,

         22  Council Member Perkins and certainly, Commissioner,

         23  you can understand the emotion that is exhibited

         24  here around this issue, because we are very pained

         25  to see our children continuously incarcerated, and
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          2  we recognize that because of all of the processes

          3  that we go through from time to time in terms of

          4  looking at any indications how it is declining and

          5  incarceration is moving up the ladder that we're

          6  very pained by that, and that sees the problems of

          7  our children in very wholesome way.  So, therefore,

          8  perhaps emotion will run high in that regard to how

          9  some of the Council members will respond.

         10                 But at this time, I would like

         11  Council Member Rodriguez to have his time.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ:  Thank you.

         13    Let me first apologize for being late to the

         14  people from Hunts Point, and you may have covered

         15  some of the things that I am going to ask you, but

         16  usually if Ms. Una Clarke, you're going to hear some

         17  stuff on mental health stuff, if it's Margarita

         18  Lopez, you're going to hear some stuff on protocol

         19  and that, and if it is me, you're going to hear

         20  issues on with regard to prevention.  And as I look

         21  at the budget here, the numbers, I don't know the

         22  numbers, I'm looking at numbers and I hear $5

         23  million for running Spofford, and I hear $7 million

         24  capital improvements, and $97 million of total

         25  budget for your agency, and $56 million onto the
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          2  State, and $40 million of operating.  I guess last

          3  year you spent $60 million or $70 million to build

          4  two new facilities, am I right?  That is in the

          5  ballpark, and whatever you spend on Vernon C. Bain,

          6  and it is millions of dollars that continually look

          7  at preventive programs.  And I see that last year,

          8  the Council had to restore $166,000, that is what

          9  I'm seeing here, so my question is, I have heard you

         10  mention that you are very committed to prevention,

         11  and I heard your Deputy say that it is important,

         12  how important it is, but my question goes back to

         13  the commitment of that, what is your agency

         14  currently doing to try to start new programs or

         15  enhance the programs that you have within your

         16  agency to really participate in any kind of

         17  prevention programs as opposed to this spending all

         18  of these millions of dollars locking our children

         19  up, because really what it is, it is a

         20  criminalization of our youth, that is all you're

         21  doing.

         22                 And Councilman Perkins said, you

         23  know, it's a prison industrial complex.  You hear

         24  all these words out there, but the bottom line is at

         25  some point a society who get sick of it and say, you
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          2  really have to make a commitment to try to help

          3  these youth. And I understand that there are some of

          4  these children that need to be incarcerated, I

          5  understand that clearly, but if some of them don't,

          6  and you said that also, we need to figure out, and

          7  you need to figure out and we need to assist you in

          8  that, how can you go out there and figure out ways

          9  to prevent these expenses from going on? Figure out

         10  anything, because I keep coming here, and I'm a

         11  fairly new Council member, but I keep looking and I

         12  don't see anything. And I keep coming back asking

         13  you the same questions and I still don't get the

         14  response that I think would say that we're really

         15  committed to having a program that is going to be

         16  prevention only. Can you tell me where you are going

         17  in that direction, if you are going in that

         18  direction at all?

         19                 COMMISSIONER HERNANDEZ:  Councilman,

         20  the reality is, is that we have several agencies in

         21  City government that have different missions.  Our

         22  mission is primarily one of public safety being able

         23  to protect the community from the young people that

         24  are committing crimes that require detention.  We do

         25  operate some prevention programs.  As I indicated
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          2  that my philosophy is to try to be able to intervene

          3  with young people regarding these points, or there

          4  is through some kind of diversion, being able to

          5  intervene with them while they're in detention, or

          6  by helping them to bring back into the community

          7  when they leave.

          8                 But, primarily, most of the

          9  prevention programs really fall into the period of

         10  Martin Oesterreich as the Commissioner of the

         11  Department of Youth and Community Development. We

         12  have been meeting with him and discussing ways that

         13  he can better coordinate areas, where we hold that

         14  we are getting those young people from those

         15  geographic areas, he has been willing to do that.

         16                 We continue to look for ways that we

         17  might be able to offer services for our young people

         18  in our aftercare program. I was able to get some

         19  money from New York City Housing Authority to be

         20  able to target some public housing developments

         21  where we know that we have young people that are

         22  getting into trouble.  We will continue to do that.

         23                 And we're also looking for ways that

         24  we might be able to identify some funding for

         25  substance abuse services, all parts of the continuum
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          2  of our services.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ:  You

          4  mentioned that you got something from the New York

          5  City Housing Authority, how much money are we

          6  talking about, because I just want to know what that

          7  number is?

          8                 COMMISSIONER HERNANDEZ:  Three

          9  hundred fifty thousand is the target, I think, and I

         10  would also say Councilman that really in that what I

         11  thought was some extraordinary collaboration with

         12  this Committee and our agency, we were also able to

         13  get the Mayor to approve the community center here

         14  in Hunts Point, which is over $4 million, as well,

         15  which is a preventative amount.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ:  So we're

         17  talking three hundred something thousand, and that

         18  is - -

         19                 COMMISSIONER HERNANDEZ:  Plus the

         20  four million.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ:  Well, that

         22  is capital, we are talking capital all of the time.

         23                 COMMISSIONER HERNANDEZ:  Well, but

         24  there is no such community neighbor in there for our

         25  greater expense.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ:  You

          3  mentioned your philosophy of helping to integrate, I

          4  guess, people that go through your system back into

          5  the community.  Can you tell me what program you

          6  have to do that?

          7                 COMMISSIONER HERNANDEZ:  Well, as I

          8  indicated, we have an aftercare program, part of it

          9   - -

         10                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER:  Commissioner,

         11  hold on a second. Can we get some quiet in the back

         12  of the room, please?

         13                 SERGEANT- AT- ARMS:  Quiet, please?

         14                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER:  Please, proceed.

         15                 COMMISSIONER HERNANDEZ:  As we look

         16  at the population,  there is a certain segment to

         17  the population that tends to leave detention like

         18  within 10 days.  We have other young people that

         19  have more complicated cases that stay longer.  The

         20  model that we're looking to, we're doing this and

         21  we're looking to do it more strategically, is that

         22  you do have service that offer within detention so

         23  that we could help mental health assessment,

         24  education assessment.

         25                 One of the things that we did this
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          2  year was to have the Board of Education begin to

          3  operate our school.  Our school is within detention,

          4  and part of the reason that we did that, well, we

          5  did that for several reasons.  One was because we

          6  were not competitive in terms of salary, so we had a

          7  tremendous difficulty in being able to retain

          8  teachers, but moreover, I was really just very

          9  concern that we would not then get young people

         10  mainstreamed back into the public school system.  We

         11  thought that if we had the Board of Education

         12  offering education on- site, that they would be more

         13  effective in being able to get young people back

         14  into their public schools in their community.

         15                 That is one way to be looking to be

         16  able to get young people who need to get back into

         17  the community in a way that is effective because

         18  education is one indicator and one very strong

         19  indicator of success or lack of success in this

         20  particular area.

         21                 We now have in our field, where we're

         22  looking to what mental health, mental health

         23  services with community- based organizations that

         24  would have the responsibility of being able to work

         25  with young people in our system that have health
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          2  problems, or mental health problems, and part of the

          3  contract would be that they would build their

          4  requirement, that they than move them into

          5  community- based services as a young person gets

          6  released from detention, as well.

          7                 So we're looking for ways, we're also

          8  going through a strategic planning process to see if

          9  there are ways that we can better help young people

         10  as they move out, move into community services.  One

         11  of our biggest challenges is that we often,

         12  sometimes don't know when a young person is going to

         13  get released, so that is a problem.  So we have sort

         14  of have figure out how to attack that problem.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ:  You

         16  mentioned aftercare program, do you know what the

         17  budget for that is?  I keep asking budget questions

         18  because, and I will tell you why I ask the budget

         19  questions, because I like to hear the number that

         20  comes back, as I said here, 97 million, 56 million,

         21  40 million, 70, 60 million, I want to know what the

         22  numbers are for care, for prevention, that is why

         23  I'm asking the question with regard to budget.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER:  Council member,

         25  if I could ask you to wrap that up, because we will
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          2  be having our budget hearings on that on March 11th?

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER APPLE:  The

          4  aftercare program, which is a separate program,

          5  we're spending about $400,000.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ:  Okay, I

          7  just wanted to hear the number, because I really

          8  think it has to be worked on, and I didn't hear the

          9  date the budget hearings are on.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER:  I have been told

         11  it's March 10th.

         12                 Commissioner, I appreciate your

         13  comments and your philosophy, but the sad reality is

         14  that the Mayor's Preliminary Budget proposes to cut

         15  $19 million from youth services, including almost

         16  $14 million for delinquency prevention programs,

         17  about a 56 percent cut, which we believe could

         18  represent opportunities for 160,000 young people, at

         19  the same time, the City is proposing to spend $26

         20  million to hire 1,500 additional police officers.

         21  And while I know that that is not your budget, and I

         22  wouldn't expect you to comment on this now, it is

         23  something that the Council members are deeply

         24  troubled by, for the life of us, we can't understand

         25  it.  And what I want to ask you to do is to make
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          2  sure that your good officers and your professional

          3  expertise to try to carry that message back to the

          4  Mayor that this is extremely disheartening to the

          5  people who work in the field, even if we are all

          6  going to be successful in reversing this decision,

          7  but it sends a terrible message to the young people.

          8    Because you, yourself, have very articulately

          9  described the importance of these programs, and we

         10  just don't understand why anybody would proposed

         11  that they be cut.  So, I just had to sort of get

         12  that off my chest.

         13                 Commissioner, a couple of quick

         14  questions and then are a couple of things that I

         15  might ask you to respond to why we have people.  We

         16  have some time constraints on the use of the

         17  facility, we will get to the transfer, so we will

         18  get into the more formal.  I just wanted to quickly

         19  ask you a couple of questions.

         20                 One, is, is in the recitation of the

         21  population on this today, did I understand it

         22  correctly that 1.9 at 137 for the new facility, is

         23  it over capacity or we're under capacity at Bain?

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER APPLE:  We have

         25  20 additional beds available at all facilities that
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          2  we have a variance for, so what we have, if we reach

          3  over 129 authorized capacity or certified capacity,

          4  we will utilize those beds, and that is what we have

          5  been doing.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER:  Secondly, - -

          7                 COMMISSIONER HERNANDEZ:  Councilman,

          8  may I?  We also have taken very seriously the

          9  commitment that we would not be over capacity in

         10  Vernon C. Bain.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER:  Secondly, I'm

         12  told that there was one time the Department used

         13  what was known as the Vera Institute protocol for

         14  determining which young people would go to security

         15  detention, which ones should go to non- security

         16  detention, I would like to know whether or not the

         17  Vera protocol is still being used?

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER APPLE:  I think

         19  what you are talking about is what we call the

         20  screening use, the open screening use, probably the

         21  same thing, which is just a way by which we review

         22  every resident that comes to us, based upon their

         23  prior history, the current charge, as what would

         24  like family ties, and et cetera, et cetera, based

         25  upon that we score on a very consistent youth that
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          2  are eligible for transfer to NSD.  It doesn't

          3  necessarily mean they will be transferred, but there

          4  are eligible and a little more practical, possibly

          5  we could transfer them

          6                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER:  Is that protocol

          7  the same on that has been in effect for some time?

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER APPLE: Yes.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER:  And just two

         10  last questions, one is that there was an issue, the

         11  Council had funded additional positions in the

         12  Ombuds Office because you are now operating three

         13  facilities instead of one.  Once Spofford is reopen

         14  you certainly will be operating three facility

         15  instead two or one.  There was some confusion on the

         16  part as to what the outpatient was for, has that

         17  been resolved, and has the additional position been

         18  filled?

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER APPLE:  We have

         20  positions in this year's budget, however, the

         21  financial plan talk about the areas for that and I

         22  know that we will go into similar detail in a couple

         23  weeks in March, it doesn't include funding for it.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER:  But have you

         25  hired the person that the Council funded or not?
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER APPLE:  We have

          3  not hired that person.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER:  And are you

          5  planning to hire that person?

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER APPLE:  Right now

          7  we have money only until June 30th.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER:  Right, but you

          9  still have three facilities, you still only have one

         10  ombuds person, you have got the money that has been

         11  sitting there for months, and whether it runs out in

         12  June or not you could be hiring that person, could

         13  hire that person today, right?  There is no

         14  impediment for not having hired that person up until

         15  now; am I correct?

         16                 COMMISSIONER HERNANDEZ:  You're

         17  absolutely correct. I'm not in the position to be

         18  able to hire someone today that I cannot guarantee I

         19  can keep going into the next fiscal year.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER:  Well, that is

         21  what the budget process is for.

         22                 COMMISSIONER HERNANDEZ:  Correct.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER:  But once the

         24  money is appropriated, once the budget agreement

         25  with the Mayor is made and we go over calendar funds
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          2  that the Council had added, we expect that agreement

          3  to be carried forward.  No one has come back to me

          4  to say that that aspect of the budget was being

          5  disregarded, Commissioner.  So what we have to go

          6  back to and tell him that, you know, this is a

          7  problem, I suggest you do that, because I don't want

          8  have to report back to the Speaker that some aspect

          9  of his budget agreement with the Mayor is not being

         10  carried out, which becomes an institution which is

         11  separate and apart from the merits that include the

         12  marriage.  You, obviously, think, one, the point

         13  otherwise we wouldn't have allocated the funds in

         14  the first place.

         15                 COMMISSIONER HERNANDEZ:  I will do

         16  so, Ken.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER:  And the lastly,

         18  I want to know in terms of the juvenile, the

         19  detained juvenile operation, do we know how long the

         20  typical young person spends in police custody before

         21  they get to DJJ, and how many young people are in

         22  custody at any given time before they get to DJJ?

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER APPLE:  Well, it

         24  would depend on JD or JO.  Where JO typically stays

         25  with the Police Department if court is closed, they
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          2  actually have within specific precincts throughout

          3  the City.  If they're JD, now the Police Department

          4  bring them to our facilities to our VCBC.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER:  How long - -

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER APPLE:  If the

          7  court is closed, if not they go directly to

          8  probation intake.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER:  So immediately

         10  that you would bring them over, but there is time.

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER APPLE:  About

         12  three hours.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER:  Yes, okay, thank

         14  you very much. Council Member Clarke had one last

         15  question, and then we will move on.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE:  Yes, I just

         17  have one question on the Mental Health RFP,

         18  Commissioner Cohen comes to report tomorrow morning,

         19  all the issues of mental health for which, for the

         20  life of me I don't how we can get on the same case

         21  all the time, but I want to know this RFP will be

         22  reflected in the Department of Mental Health budget

         23  or will it be reflected in your budget, and if so,

         24  are we giving you the money or are you giving us the

         25  money?
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER APPLE:  Yes, well

          3  actually it will be reflected in our budget on 7/20.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE:   Okay, so

          5  it's going, federal dollars.  Having said that, then

          6  since it is federal dollars, is there case

          7  management concluded as to the RFP so that we will

          8  know each young person will go for follow- up mental

          9  health services, and if that is the case, can we

         10  have a copy of that RFP, and is there still time for

         11  the City Council to have some input as to how we

         12  think this can work better as youngsters go back to

         13  their community?

         14                 COMMISSIONER HERNANDEZ:  Well, we can

         15  certainly provide you with a copies by tomorrow, and

         16  the RFP encompasses several areas beyond DJJ that

         17  you should be aware of.  And in terms of input the

         18  RFP has already been released, but certainly input

         19  around how do you think the programmatic aspects

         20  should be structured, I certainly would be willing

         21  to talk to you about that.

         22                 Our intent really was to be able to

         23  identify young people with mental health problems

         24  while in the system to get them into mental health

         25  care when they return to the community.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE:  Thank you

          3  very much.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER:  Thank you,

          5  Commissioner.

          6                 COMMISSIONER HERNANDEZ:  Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER:  We have a number

          8  of people who have signed up to testify, and what

          9  I'm going to do is ask, Frank Vernuccio, the person

         10  from the Bronx Borough President's Office to come up

         11  first.  Just so that you are prepared because we

         12  have some limitations on how long we can use the

         13  school building, after the Bronx Borough President's

         14  Office, we will be hearing from Nancy Solomon from

         15  Citizen's Committee for Children, and Nancy

         16  Rosenbloom from The Legal Aid Society, and Betty

         17  Robinson from Daytop Village. So, please, be

         18  prepared to take the witness stand.

         19                 MR. VERNUCCIO:  Good afternoon, Mr.

         20  Chairman.  On behalf of Bronx Borough President

         21  Ferrer, I am Frank Vernuccio, and on behalf of the

         22  Borough President welcome to the Bronx, we are

         23  pleased that you chose to come here to run this

         24  hearing, we appreciate it.

         25                 The proposed reopening of the
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          2  Spofford Juvenile Facility calls two key issues into

          3  question.  The first, one that has received

          4  significant City- wide attention, concerns the

          5  questionable administration of the past of the

          6  facility itself. The second has been the wholly

          7  inappropriate treatment of the community in dealing

          8  with all matters relating to this troubled

          9  institution.

         10                 The existence of rampant and terrible

         11  conditions within Spofford is not a new issue.

         12  Since its opening in 1957 as the Bronx Youth House

         13  for Boys, the institution was noted for ongoing high

         14  levels of internal drug dealing, suicides, sexual

         15  assaults, and other horrendous problems.  The

         16  utterly unacceptable nature of the nightmare

         17  environment in this facility, which has been

         18  obsolete for at least a generation, is particularly

         19  glaring when one realizes that the average age of

         20  the residents is just fifteen years.

         21                 Because of both the impact on the

         22  community and concern with the devastating

         23  conditions within the institution itself, the old

         24  Spofford site was supposed to be permanently closed

         25  when its doors were shut in August of 1998.  The
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          2  community responded in good faith to the Mayor's

          3  request to place a new juvenile detention facility

          4  within their boundaries.  Although this type of

          5  facility was certainly not wanted, the people of the

          6  area were willing to do their fair share.  In

          7  return, they were clearly promised that Spofford

          8  would be closed, that its long unfortunate history

          9  would be finally concluded.  The Giuliani

         10  Administration had, in fact, promised that Spofford

         11  would be reopened as a community center.  This was

         12  the representation that was made; this is the

         13  promise that has been broken.

         14                 Two sites, one in the Bronx and

         15  another in Brooklyn, were to have replaced the

         16  facility.  The new locations, however had less

         17  capacity than the one being closed at a time when

         18  misdemeanor arrests were being made at a higher

         19  rate.

         20                 With the reopening of the Spofford

         21  facility, and the existence of the new site in

         22  approximately the same general area, combined with

         23  the ever- present possibility that the prison barge

         24  may be reused, the Administration has unfairly

         25  burdened the South Bronx with a totally

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            86

          1  YOUTH SERVICES AND JUVENILE JUSTICE

          2  disproportionate share of these burdensome uses.

          3                 Borough President Ferrer had

          4  appointed a task force to review what the future use

          5  of the site should be.  The matter was discussed at

          6  length at the Bronx Borough Services Cabinet meeting

          7  of June 28, 1998.  The community board, of course,

          8  had, and still has, a very keen interest in the

          9  matter.

         10                 Throughout the Borough President's

         11  entire series of attempts to address this issue

         12  responsibly and in an appropriate public manner, the

         13  people of this borough were essentially frozen out

         14  of the process by the Mayor.  The Department of

         15  Juvenile Justice failed to send a representative to

         16  the Bronx Borough Board meeting of September 8th,

         17  1998, to discuss relevant timetables and the

         18  alternative uses for the old site.  Our attempts to

         19  secure necessary information, including the filing

         20  of a Freedom of Information Law request on October

         21  8th, were partially denied by the Dependent of

         22  Juvenile Justice, and we were forced to formally

         23  lodge an appeal in an attempt to gain the

         24  information necessary for the community to be

         25  effectively informed and to viably participate in
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          2  the process.

          3                 Juvenile crime, and the need to have

          4  the facilities to deal with those incarcerated for

          5  it, is neither a novel nor a new issue.  In fact,

          6  the Giuliani Administration noted at least as far

          7  back as its 1997 Executive budget release that it

          8  would be increasing these types of arrests.

          9                 The lack of clear planning and the

         10  disdain for public participation in the process is

         11  completely unacceptable.  It is both the vision and

         12  the mandate of our City Charter that our communities

         13  be consulted and fairly treated in the placement of

         14  City facilities.

         15                 Thank you very much.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER:  One of the, I

         17  think it has been the consensus of the members of

         18  the Committee to get the kids off the barge as

         19  quickly as possible, and I was wondering does your

         20  office share in that consensus?

         21                 MR. VERNUCCIO:  I'm not sure in terms

         22  of that particular facility, I believe the consensus

         23  is not to burden the community as whole with an

         24  excessive number of these facilities.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER:  Well, just on
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          2  the arithmetic of the number of kids in detention,

          3  which was, I guess, are determined by the Family

          4  Court on a practical matter, we seem to have three

          5  choices, one is to continue to use the Bain beyond

          6  the end of this year.  The second is to reopen

          7  Spofford that has been proposed by the

          8  Administration, and the third is something else, if

          9  there is a something else that somebody could

         10  recommend.  So which of those three choices would

         11  you recommend to us, and if it is for something

         12  else, what is the something else?

         13                 MR. VERNUCCIO:  Well, certainly,

         14  rather than reopen this antiquated facility, which

         15  has served by the community, the City nor a

         16  practical image as well, the barge would be

         17  preferable to that, however, I'm not sure that the

         18  Borough President particularly on board of that

         19  concept either.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER:  Council Member

         21  Lopez.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  You indicated

         23  in your testimony that Borough President Fernando

         24  Ferrer is not happy particularly to not have met

         25  once to discuss this issue with the Administration;
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          2  that is correct?

          3                 MR. VERNUCCIO:  We had two problems

          4  with that, members of the Department of Juvenile

          5  Justice have not attended regularly has they were

          6  asked to do, our Parole Board meetings which we were

          7  looking forward to discussing with the Borough

          8  President of the community, but I think, even more

          9  importantly, that in order to have an informed

         10  discussion there is information that we needed to

         11  have, and we had to have, not expect when you

         12  consider the history of this Administration, a very

         13  difficult time in getting that information.  Again,

         14  we had to file FOIL request to get information that

         15  should not have been hard to get in the first place,

         16  and even after the filing of the FOIL request we

         17  have not been getting the information.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  That

         19  information that you requested, can you be kind

         20  enough to tell me what was it about?

         21                 MR. VERNUCCIO:  Personally, I don't

         22  have that information directly, but I can get it

         23  sent to you this afternoon from the office.  The

         24  FOIL request was filed October 8th and I will get

         25  you the specifics about what was requested.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  Then if you

          3  would be so kind to share that information with me,

          4  I would appreciate it very much.

          5                 Thank you.

          6                 MR. VERNUCCIO:  Certainly.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER:  Thank you very

          8  much.

          9                 MR. VERNUCCIO:  Thank you, Council

         10  member.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER:  Nancy Solomon.

         12                 MS. SOLOMON:  Good afternoon.  My

         13  name is Nancy Solomon, and I am the Chairman of

         14  Citizen's Committee for Children of New York.  CCC

         15  is a fifty- five- year- old, multi- issue child

         16  advocacy organization dedicated to ensuring that

         17  every New York City child is healthy, housed,

         18  educated and safe.  Before I begin my remarks, I

         19  would like to thank the members of the Youth

         20  Services Committee and its Chair, Council Member

         21  Fisher, and the Chair of the Subcommittee on

         22  Juvenile Justice, Council Member Robinson, for

         23  holding this hearing today to discuss the reopening

         24  of Spofford Juvenile Center.

         25                 For the past two years, Citizens'
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          2  Committee for Children has advocated for the closure

          3  of Spofford Juvenile Center because of its constant

          4  state of disrepair and dilapidated conditions that

          5  were unsuitable for children and youth. Furthermore,

          6  Spofford is poorly designed to house children and

          7  youth because of the isolated hallways and

          8  stairwells that can invite illegal or dangerous

          9  activity between staff and children, which will go

         10  unnoticed.

         11                 Needless to say, we were supportive

         12  of the City's decision to close Spofford in the

         13  summer of 1998, in anticipation of transitioning all

         14  children and youth in secure detention to the two

         15  new state- of- the- art detention facilities in

         16  Brooklyn and the Bronx.  To our disappointment and

         17  concern, the Vernon C. Bain prison barge became a

         18  replacement facility for Spofford, and children and

         19  youth have been housed in a facility that resembles

         20  an adult prison.  The barge is housing children and

         21  youth in cells, has dangerous razor ribbon within

         22  the reach of children and youth playing on the

         23  outdoor basketball court, it has dangerous

         24  stairwells and walkways, uses classrooms with very

         25  low ceilings and without windows, and is
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          2  inaccessible to family members and attorneys.  Upon

          3  the opening of he barge we submitted a list of our

          4  concerns to the Department of Juvenile Justice and

          5  received assurance that many of our recommendations

          6  would be implemented to make the barge a safer

          7  place.

          8                 We were very pleased that the State

          9  Office of Children and Family Services limited the

         10  length of time that the barge could be used to 18

         11  months.  However, we are disappointed that the

         12  City's sole remedy to account for the increased

         13  number of children and youth in secure detention is

         14  to build more capacity, without investigating why

         15  there are record numbers of children and youth in

         16  secure detention during a period when juvenile

         17  arrest rates are decreasing.  However, neither the

         18  City nor DJJ nor the Mayor's Office of the Criminal

         19  Justice Coordinator have released information about

         20  why there has been such a dramatic increase

         21  intravenous he secure detention population.

         22                 We believe that there are several

         23  ways to account for the increased numbers of youth

         24  in secure detention.  These include the shortage of

         25  non- secure detention beds and longer adjournments
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          2  for the juvenile offender cases, which have

          3  contributed significantly to longer lengths of stay

          4  in secure detention for juvenile offenders.  In

          5  addition, the Corporation Counsel's Office uses

          6  secure detention as a bargaining tool to have the

          7  youth admit his/her guilt instead of using secure

          8  detention as a facility for youth who are a danger

          9  to the community.  The Corporation Counsel's Office

         10  will also hold over cases for investigation for

         11  months and wait for a youth to get arrested one or

         12  two more times before filing petitions in Family

         13  Court.  This practice not only fails to provide

         14  immediate and effective interventions for youth who

         15  have been arrested, but also makes it much more

         16  likely that youth will be sent to secure detention

         17  when finally brought before the court.

         18                 We understand that DJJ has very

         19  limited discretion over which youth are placed in

         20  secure detention, and that DJJ can only have input

         21  on open remand cases.  We believe, however, that the

         22  City has the responsibility to identify the cause

         23  for the sharp increase in population in secure

         24  detention, whether it is DJJ or the Mayor's Office

         25  of the Criminal Justice Coordinator, or another
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          2  designated juvenile justice body, and we urge the

          3  City Council to support this request.  It is

          4  irresponsible for the City to continue to plan for

          5  expansion without examining why the numbers of youth

          6  have increased.  Without being able to account for

          7  this sharp rise, we believe that the City is ill-

          8  equipped to manage its secure detention population

          9  and to plan for future population management

         10  strategies.

         11                 We do have several concerns regarding

         12  the reopening of Spofford and offer several

         13  recommendations.  First, we are disappointed that

         14  the City has allocated $7 million to repair Spofford

         15  without making any investment in non- secure

         16  detention, the Alternative- to- Detention programs,

         17  and the Expanded Alternative to- Detention program

         18  and while the Mayor has proposed cutting youth

         19  services funding by almost $20 million.  We strongly

         20  urge the City Council to restore the $20 million cut

         21  to youth services, to add $1 million to DJJ to

         22  expand the number of non- secure detention beds, and

         23  another $1 million to the Department of Probation to

         24  expand capacity at ATD and EATD.  The City made the

         25  decision to invest equally in alternative forms of
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          2  detention in its original plan to build the two new

          3  secure detention facilities and we strongly urge the

          4  City to maintain its commitment.

          5                 Second, we strongly recommend that

          6  Spofford provide educational programs daily for all

          7  children and youth in secure detention, regardless

          8  of their length of stay.  Prior to the opening of

          9  the barge, DJJ stated that they intended to provide

         10  some educational programming to children and youth

         11  in secure detention for less than ten days, which

         12  included classes on conflict resolution for example.

         13    Minimally, we request that educational programs be

         14  provided to children and youth who have been in

         15  secure detention for more than 10 days, including

         16  those who have been sentenced to state- run

         17  facilities and who have been in secure detention for

         18  more than 10 days.

         19                 Third, we recommend that DJJ

         20  adequately staff Spofford to ensure an array of

         21  services for children and youth in secure detention

         22  and that DJJ make all necessary repairs to ensure

         23  that Spofford is physically safe.  In addition,

         24  while the number of secure detention facilities has

         25  grown from one to three over the past year, we do
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          2  not believe that DJJ has developed the requisite

          3  management infrastructure to manage all three

          4  facilities, and we urge DJJ to expand their staff

          5  accordingly.

          6                 Fourth, we understand that DJJ's

          7  current plan is to utilize only 100 beds at

          8  Spofford, however, we are very concerned about the

          9  potential to even further increase the number of

         10  youth in secure detention by using Spofford's entire

         11  facility.  Again, we strongly urge the City to

         12  resist expanding the number of secure detention beds

         13  even further and recommend that the City analyze the

         14  recent increases in the secure detention population

         15  and recommit to its plan to expand the number of

         16  non- secure detention beds, ATD and EATD slots.

         17                 Lastly, DJJ must make available

         18  increased funds for the Ombudsman Office.  The City

         19  Council worked relentlessly to increase the funding

         20  by $75,000 to increased the number of ombudsmen from

         21  one to three and included funds for additional

         22  support staff.  The City Council intended to have

         23  one ombudsman at each of the City's three secure

         24  detention facilities.  However, to date, there still

         25  exists only on ombudsman for three facilities,
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          2  without any additional support staff.  The Ombudsman

          3  program is intended to address complaints of civil

          4  rights violations, allegations of abuse and unfair

          5  treatment in secure detention.  We urge the City

          6  Council to continue to push DJJ to spend these

          7  additional funds allocated to the Ombudsman program

          8  immediately.

          9                 In conclusion, we strongly recommend

         10  that the City not rely on costly capacity expansion

         11  of secure detention beds as the sole remedy for

         12  reducing juvenile crime and maintaining the safety

         13  of the community.  The City must remain faithful to

         14  its original plan to provide secure detention for

         15  only those children and youth who need to be removed

         16  from the community while their hearing/trials are

         17  pending, while also providing a range of other

         18  detention programs that allow youth to safely remain

         19  in the community while their case is being heard.

         20  To date, the City has only remained firmly committed

         21  to using the most restrictive placement option for

         22  all youth coming into the juvenile justice system.

         23  We do not support this practice.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER:  Thank you for

         25  your testimony. And one of the questions that I
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          2  would ask you to give some thought to, people take

          3  out really the context of our budget hearings, is,

          4  whether an expansion of the NSD beds would actually

          5  result in a reduction of the secure incarceration.

          6  In other words, we had the sense when there was a

          7  shortage of NSD beds that a message was sent to the

          8  judges to send the kids to detention because there

          9  was no place else to put them, and, hopefully, that

         10  solved to equalized, and the question is, if there

         11  were more NSD beds would that give the opportunity

         12  for the judges to sort of tip the scales in the

         13  other way, or would we simply wind up with all of

         14  those beds being filled and kids in secure detention

         15  beds as well?  So it is something to think about.

         16                 I guess I wanted to ask you the same

         17  question that I asked the Borough President's

         18  Office, which is, I think we all share the notion

         19  that we want to have the most appropriate number of

         20  kids in detention, only those kids who need to be in

         21  detention and no more.  And given the current state

         22  of affairs with the population being what it is, and

         23  given, the question is, if it is a choice between

         24  reopening Spofford as outlined by the Commissioner,

         25  or keeping kids on the barge, what would you
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          2  recommend, recognizing the third option being to

          3  come up with diversion techniques to keep those

          4  number of kids, but with the population the way it

          5  is which is your preferred option?

          6                 MS. SOLOMON:  Well, diversion is

          7  still an option, but I personally have been to the

          8  barge and I think that we clearly are very much

          9  against using the barge.  We find it a totally

         10  inappropriate place for the young people to be, and

         11  we don't think that it's where they ought to be, and

         12  we, certainly, did not like Spofford reopening, the

         13  $7 million that they used to correct Spofford

         14  problems there, clearly, that applies to the use of

         15  the money we get from.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON ROBINSON:  First of all,

         17  I want to thank you for your testimony, Ms. Solomon.

         18    And the other thing is that apparently you don't

         19  think it is a good idea at all, the expansion of

         20  Spofford.  Hopefully that we would be able to work

         21  together, and hopefully that you will be around City

         22  Hall when the budget deliberations take place so

         23  that we can have the benefit of your testimony and

         24  information as you feel that the issue should go

         25  forth in regards to this facility.
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          2                 It seems as though that you have some

          3  insight, that perhaps the Administration doesn't

          4  have, and, you know, I wonder why everybody doesn't

          5  see it the same way, but we understand that too.

          6  And so I just want to thank you for your

          7  information, and hopefully that you will be around.

          8                 Council Member Espada.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER ESPADA:  Yes, I just

         10  want to ask you a brief question.  Just because you

         11  seem to have so much understanding of the facility

         12  of Spofford, what do you see, if anything, because I

         13  sure have had the opportunity to see what Spofford

         14  can become, what do you see Spofford being able to

         15  become if this five or six year deadline, whatever

         16  it is, a period of time to deal with it, what do you

         17  see it being able to become at the end of that time?

         18                 MS. SOLOMON:  I'm really not

         19  comfortable in responding to that, I think that

         20  clearly the support, supported the closing of

         21  Spofford, we were hopeful that the two small

         22  facilities would handle the capacity, which clearly

         23  they did not.  We fully support the community to

         24  want to use it for, in a better way for the

         25  community, whether as a youth center.  I can't
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          2  imagine how one renovates particularly that

          3  particular facility, but perhaps I don't have the

          4  needed vision, but clearly there needs to be

          5  something else.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON ROBINSON:  One further

          7  question, Ms. Solomon, in regards to your fourth

          8  item, that DJJ's current plan is to utilize only 100

          9  beds, then you go onto say, that the City should

         10  analyze the recent increases in the secure detention

         11  population.  Did you have some ideas or did you have

         12  some information that you would like to share with

         13  us in regards to the increase of the secure

         14  population, did you have some ideas around that?

         15                 MS. SOLOMON:  Yes, I did.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON ROBINSON:  In regards to

         17  increase of the population?  DJJ says one thing in

         18  terms about, you know, things have changed that this

         19  population is unique.  Did you have some thoughts

         20  about how the population is increasing with the

         21  spiral going down all over the place, why is the

         22  population going to Spofford increasing, or really

         23  juvenile detention increasing?

         24                 MS. SOLOMON:  Well, I think that you

         25  do believe that if there were no option program for
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          2  the children that there would be not in secure

          3  detention facility placement, that they would be

          4  used.  I'm not, at this point, ready to respond any

          5  further.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON ROBINSON:  Okay, thank

          7  you very much.

          8                 Council Member Lopez.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  Yes, you said

         10  in your testimony that it is your belief that part

         11  of the reason why an increase on the probation has

         12  occurred, is because many of those cases don't

         13  belong in high detention facility, they belong in a

         14  lower detention facility.  How do you know that?

         15                 MS. SOLOMON:  That is a very good

         16  question, and I'm really not privileged to answer

         17  that question, but the staff Association for the

         18  Criminal Justice System are not here today, she

         19  would be most happy to call you and speak with you

         20  directly about that.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  I would love

         22  that information in response to that.

         23                 MS. SOLOMON:  And you will get it

         24  with, sooner than a year.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  Thank you.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            103

          1  YOUTH SERVICES AND JUVENILE JUSTICE

          2  Yes, one more, Ma'am.  You made an interesting point

          3  here when you said that if the population has to be

          4  use as is alleged by the Administration, then we

          5  have gone from one to three.  The mathematics are

          6  different in here than the one that I was taught

          7  when I was a child, but something is pretty wrong

          8  there.  You mentioned an Ombudsman, who is that

          9  Ombudsman right now, do you know the name?

         10                 MS. SOLOMON:  The person is Betty

         11  Wolf.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  And where

         13  would I get in contact with Betty?

         14                 MS. SOLOMON:  Well she was here until

         15  about a half an hour ago, but I will also give you

         16  her name and address.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  Is she an

         18  administrator of the Mayor or she is an independent

         19  body?

         20                 MS. SOLOMON:  She is independent.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  Totally

         22  independent.  Would she have information regarding

         23  how many children are in this institution that are

         24  subjected to here?

         25                 MS. SOLOMON:  I don't believe that
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          2  she has that information.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  Why not?  That

          4  is information that should be permitted for her to

          5  have.

          6                 Okay, thank you.

          7                 MS. SOLOMON:  But I will get you the

          8  information that you asked for.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER:  Thank you very

         11  much.  Nancy Rosenbloom.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON ROBINSON:  For the

         13  record, would you identify yourself, Ms. Rosenbloom?

         14                 MS. ROSENBLOOM:  Good afternoon.  I

         15  am Nancy Rosenbloom, an attorney with the Juvenile

         16  Rights Division of The Legal Aid Society of the City

         17  of New York.  We commend the City Council's Youth

         18  Services Committee for focusing this hearing on the

         19  City's planned reopening of the Spofford secure

         20  detention center, and for reaching out to the

         21  community in the neighborhood of this facility.

         22  We're here to share the experiences and concerns of

         23  our clients with the Committee.

         24                 The Legal Aid Society represents

         25  thousands of children every year at Juvenile
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          2  Delinquency proceedings in Family Court, and also

          3  the Criminal Defense Division represents children

          4  and adults, children between 13 and 16 who are

          5  charged as criminal offenders of adult court.  Both

          6  of these populations end up in Spofford and in

          7  places like Spofford that are run by DJJ.  We are

          8  glad that the Committee, primarily today, asked the

          9  question of DJJ on their plans, we're disappointed

         10  that most of DJJ contingent had left, and they

         11  didn't hear other testimony about hearing from other

         12  concerned members of the community.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER:  There are, the

         14  Commissioner has assured me that they would be

         15  sending people and they are in fact here.

         16                 MS. ROSENBLOOM:  We continue to be

         17  disappointed in the Commissioner, himself, and

         18  several Deputy Commissioners and the General Counsel

         19  had to leave without hearing any of incumbents on

         20  it.

         21                 We have had thousands of clients pass

         22  through the old Spofford and they were secure and

         23  non- secure detention years. We have had three point

         24  contact with Spofford and other facilities, as well

         25  as the highly effective alternative programs that
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          2  were used to avoid pre- trial detention.

          3                 We believe strongly that reopening

          4  Spofford is a mistake.  That if there are $7 million

          5  and seven months to be allocated to renovate, or to

          6  try to renovate this facility, that money can be

          7  better spent developing other options.  You are all

          8  aware of the problems with Spofford for years, and I

          9  wouldn't detail them and announce them now.

         10                 Already today, the Commissioner has

         11  gone up from is original announcement that they

         12  would have is up to 100 children in Spofford, now it

         13  is up to about 150.  They're talking about a

         14  temporary use which may stretch over five years.

         15  This is a grave concern to our clients, of course,

         16  because we believe that no amount of working with

         17  this facility, we could appropriate a treatment

         18  facility for children who have not yet been found

         19  guilty current.  And what it is supposed to be is

         20  treatment, there is substantial case law, there are

         21  constitutional rights at stake, this is not supposed

         22  to be lock them up and throw away the key.

         23                 I wanted to respond to a couple of

         24  things specifically, one is with regards to non-

         25  security detention. Council Member Lopez had asked
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          2  earlier how many children are currently in secure

          3  detention who should be in non- secure detention in

          4  group homes.  The Commissioner was advised not to

          5  answer because of a matter of litigation, but then

          6  later one of the DJJ, Mr. Apple, explained that

          7  there are children who are evaluated as eligible for

          8  non- secure, but sometimes don't get moved there.  We're

          9  the people who filed the lawsuit on behalf of the

         10  children.  We have the DJJ records, the records show

         11  that in the past year and one- half they,

         12  themselves, have screened hundreds and hundreds of

         13  children eligible for non- secure detention and not

         14  moved them.  Those are the children who continue to

         15  take up spaces in a security facilities, and that is

         16  why they perceive a requirement for more secured

         17  beds, rather than non- secure detention.

         18                 After we filed the lawsuit, and it

         19  could be coincidental, three group homes, non-

         20  secure homes were opened, which replaced the three

         21  that had been closed, these are not new, at their

         22  rib, they're replaced facilities that had been

         23  closed.

         24                 They're up to the same number of

         25  security detention beds as DJJ had two years ago,
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          2  about two years ago.  There has not been a

          3  substantial increase and there should be, because

          4  there are children who should be in the group homes

          5  receiving those kinds of services, not locked up in

          6  maximum security, prisons like Spofford.

          7                 The Committee asked a number of

          8  people very good questions, if you had to choose,

          9  would you choose the barge or Spofford, there is no

         10  need to make that choice.  Spending the same money,

         11  less than, DJJ could be providing the non- secure

         12  facilities to which many children are equally

         13  compliant and not getting now, and could be

         14  developing additional alternatives.  Alternatives

         15  like Alternative- to- Detention and Expanded-

         16  Alternatives- to- Detention are running, and

         17  programs like pre- trial show that their recidivism

         18  rates, that kids can go through those programs are

         19  much lower than kids who get help.  So there are

         20  many of the programs that if they were available to

         21  judges perhaps and probably a lot of judges could

         22  make other choices rather than to send children to

         23  detention.  If judges had an option of full

         24  detention, as an electronic monitor that was used in

         25  other places, get more substance abuse programs,
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          2  mental health facilities that children could be sent

          3  to, the judges would use them.

          4                 Every day in Family Court, judges are

          5  told by prosecutors that there is no space in non-

          6  secure detention, and sometimes that draws the

          7  judges to say, okay, send them to Spofford, okay,

          8  send them to the prison barge.  This is what

          9  happens, this is the reality.  It is really not a

         10  chicken and egg, if alternative facilities were

         11  available, the judges would use them.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER:  Is that said on

         13  the record?

         14                 MS. ROSENBLOOM:  We read a number of

         15  the transcripts, some judges will say, we don't have

         16  space in an NSD, it doesn't matter to me, this child

         17  needs unsecured detention so do it, find it.  Other

         18  judges, on the record, and we have actual prints

         19  here, will say, this is what an open re- manner

         20  means, for example, this means, DJJ evaluates some

         21  of them and finds them that they're eligible for

         22  non- secure detention, she has got to go there, yes,

         23  we have the transcripts.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER:  Can you provide

         25  with that?  I also, I don't believe that Mr. Apple
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          2  provided us with a copy of the lawsuit, which I

          3  would be interested in, in seeing.

          4                 MS. ROSENBLOOM:  We would be happy to

          5  give you both those.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER:  Let me ask you,

          7  philosophically, I think we all support for what

          8  you're saying amongst members of the Council, but

          9  hypothetically assume for a moment that the

         10  Administration is either unable or unwilling to

         11  implement your recommendations with respect to the

         12  alternatives- to- incarceration, as the clock ticks,

         13  assuming that the population doesn't go down by the

         14  virtue of something more wise than we're speaking

         15  about today, the barge or Spofford?

         16                 MS. ROSENBLOOM:  I realize the

         17  question, but let me start out by saying this, at

         18  the same time, the same money could be used to

         19  expand non- secure detention, its still detention,

         20  the State could do it.  Our clients hated Spofford,

         21  they hate the barge, it is much more frightening.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON ROBINSON:  Let me just

         23  ask you some, did you, in terms of, you talked about

         24  mental health services, substance abuse and that

         25  kind of detention, have you put a cost to that, in
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          2  terms of what would it cost for us to have those

          3  programs in place to accommodate the young people

          4  who are currently in secure detention at this time

          5  that should be in non- secure facilities?

          6                 MS. ROSENBLOOM:  We don't know what

          7  that would cost, of course, because we don't

          8  represent every child, but certainly we can get the

          9  figures of what those programs cost generally.

         10  There is a lot of work done in the City by the Casey

         11  Foundation about alternatives several years ago.

         12  That one was taken out of New York City because the

         13  City was not interested in the progress that they

         14  found.  We could certainly get you some numbers.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON ROBINSON:  Thank you, I

         16  would appreciate that, would you please get that for

         17  us?

         18                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER:  Thank you very

         19  much.

         20                 MS. ROSENBLOOM:  Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER:  Ms. Robinson

         22  from Daytop.  That concludes the Committee's

         23  testimony, we have two young people who have

         24  indicated the desire to testify, we will call them

         25  up as soon as Ms. Robinson has concluded.
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          2                 MS. ROBINSON:  Good evening.  My name

          3  is Betty Robinson and I'm the senior counselor at

          4  Daytop Treatment Facility for adolescent and adults.

          5                 Daytop is one of the oldest

          6  facilities for drug treatment in the United States.

          7  We accommodate children and their families, and we

          8  also accommodate adult recovering addicts.

          9                 One of the things that I wanted to

         10  say is congratulations to the Council for being the

         11  type of elected officials that would ask the

         12  questions that are necessary to be asked, I was

         13  truly impressed.  I kind of felt good knowing that

         14  we have elected officials that would ask questions

         15  that ourselves wouldn't be able to answer are asked.

         16                 There are some things, you know, I

         17  represent Daytop Village, and what I have written

         18  was not the conscience of the professionals, but I

         19  bring the conscience of the children because when I

         20  was asked to come and speak at this hearing, I

         21  realized that a lot of times we hear from the

         22  professionals and we don't hear from the children.

         23  In fact, I wish I would have brought some of the

         24  children with me, and I have spoken to the children

         25  at Daytop about Spofford and about the need for
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          2  facilities.  So I'm coming to you on a professional

          3  and personal level, because fortunate for me, and

          4  unfortunate for a nephew in my family, I have some

          5  experience with detention homes.

          6                 First, on a professional level, I

          7  really need to tell you that the crimes that these

          8  children commit are not all the time the crimes of

          9  their society.  And I like the fact that, Ms.

         10  Clarke, she spoke on the reality that some of these

         11  kids are mentally ill, and they're not mentally ill

         12  because they are psychiatrically unavailable to make

         13  decisions, a lot of times they are emotionally and

         14  mentally abused, verbally, and as a result of the

         15  abuse in their homes they seek structure outside of

         16  their homes, and one of the conscience awareness

         17  that I got from the children at Daytop was that some

         18  youngsters prefer to be locked up. They prefer

         19  detention rather than a lacking environment where

         20  they come and go as they please, where no one cares

         21  what they do, and they raised that they have the

         22  freedom to behave in a disorderly fashion.

         23                 And we provide them with structure

         24  from nine to five, five days a week.  And they go

         25  through the process of being responsible and
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          2  accountable for their behavior and the way they

          3  treat their families, society, and their peers.  And

          4  I think that that is the awareness that I come with,

          5  is that the children need structure, they need

          6  discipline.  I think that these children they would

          7  rather be here and be structured and disciplined

          8  than to be elsewhere.

          9                 And with that I will tell you about a

         10  personal experience that I have had in the last few

         11  months.  I have a nephew who was a first offender in

         12  the criminal justice system, and my nephew who is

         13  13- years- old, he was sent to a children's

         14  facility, a detention home, in Rush, New York.  That

         15  is 350 miles away from the Bronx.  I have been a

         16  Bronx resident, myself, for 35 years, and I need to

         17  tell you that I have never experienced the trauma

         18  that I experienced when I visit this residential

         19  center.  After traveling eight hours with his mother

         20  and his sisters and his brothers, we were pulled

         21  over by a State Trooper who humiliated us,

         22  embarrassed us, and treated us like garbage.  When

         23  we got up to the residential center, the people

         24  there had no sympathy for us traveling the distance,

         25  they had no respect for us, and they treated him in

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            115

          1  YOUTH SERVICES AND JUVENILE JUSTICE

          2  a disorderly fashion.

          3                 I felt that I should say that our

          4  children are our responsibility, and I charge you to

          5  not only be responsible for their restrictions, for

          6  their discipline, for their supervision and their

          7  structure.  I also charge you to be accountable for

          8  where they are raised, because we can no longer

          9  avoid the responsibility of not only being

         10  accountable for what our children don't do, we need

         11  to be accountable for what they do, do.  If we're

         12  going to send our children out of New York State to

         13  be supervised, to be structured and disciplined,

         14  then we're putting our responsibility on someone

         15  else.  The jobs that we're paying someone else to

         16  do, we should be doing, the jobs should be in our

         17  community, because whatever the after is, is in our

         18  community.  We have to start, it starts here, and it

         19  begins here, therefore, it should end here.  We

         20  should not be sending our children other places to

         21  be disciplined.

         22                 Do you take your child from your

         23  house and send your child to a parent, to your

         24  sibling, to your extended family, to raise and to

         25  supervise and to discipline?  No, because that is
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          2  your responsibility.  And if we want to teach these

          3  children responsibility, we have to start by being

          4  responsible parents.  If we want to teach them

          5  accountability, we have to account, and we do not do

          6  that well, we are always shipping our children

          7  someplace else to be disciplined.

          8                 I have spoken with the children in

          9  Daytop Village, and they said that if they had to be

         10  knocked down, if they actually had to be with people

         11  who so- called concerned about them, they much

         12  rather be with those people in their community, than

         13  outside of their community.  So I believe the

         14  conscience of the children, think about our

         15  children, think about what they say.  And I extend

         16  an invitation to the Council to visit Daytop, to

         17  talk to the children.  No longer can we hide behind

         18  our desks and our profession and act like these

         19  children don't matter.  They say, hear it from the

         20  voice of a child, you will hear the truth.

         21                 Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER:  Thank you very

         23  much.  Ramesh James and Joseph Rosado from Youth

         24  Force.

         25                 MR. JAMES:  Good evening.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON ROBINSON:  Good evening,

          3  how are you doing?  I just want to say to you that I

          4  have seen you throughout the City, any place that we

          5  have been, you have been there.  And I want to

          6  commend you for coming to speak out on behalf of the

          7  young people.

          8                 MR. JAMES:  Thank you.  My name is

          9  Ramesh James, this is my co- worker, Jose Rosado.

         10  Both of us are from Youth Force.  I'm here today to

         11  voice the concerns of thousands of young people that

         12  are unable to be here today.  I am no stranger to

         13  the Spofford Juvenile Detention Center and where I

         14  work at Youth Force, we know countless young people

         15  that has suffered behind those walls.

         16                 I cannot believe that I am here today

         17  before the Council voicing my concerns regarding

         18  Spofford once again.  In the past, young people, ex-

         19  offenders and Youth Force members led a campaign to

         20  close Spofford and felt that it was a victory when

         21  Spofford was announced to be closed.  Now in 1999,

         22  Spofford is about to reopen.  What is my reason for

         23  even attempting to addressed this issue?  It seems

         24  that everyone has their own agenda, which never

         25  includes the people who are most affected by
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          2  decisions that are made.

          3                 I was detained at Spofford a few

          4  years ago.  Nothing much has changed with the site.

          5  Up until the day Spofford closed its doors we, legal

          6  aid attorneys an other service providers knew of

          7  countless young people who were sexually assaulted,

          8  got pregnant, contracted sexual transmitted disease,

          9  were physically and mentally abused, attempted

         10  suicide, who were seriously injured in altercations

         11  with staff and residents, participated in drug

         12  trafficking, dealing, and use, and whose counseling,

         13  medical, educational, recreational and substance

         14  abuse needs went unmet with in the facility.  With

         15  also the blind spots and unsecurable areas it is

         16  almost impossible to monitor safety.  We did what

         17  you told us to do, Councilman Fisher, regarding

         18  sharing our concerns with the Department of Juvenile

         19  Justice, but received an inadequate response.

         20                 Youth crime is at a low, lower than

         21  at any time since the seventies and yet $7 million

         22  is going to be back into the rehab of Spofford.  I

         23  can't explain the disrespect involved in this

         24  decision.  With the two new detention facilities

         25  built, originally to replace Spofford, and an
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          2  unexplainable $4 million being put back to expand

          3  both facilities by 50 beds each.  I am disgusted

          4  with the City and its view that it has on its youth,

          5  primarily youth of color.  But the disrespect of the

          6  people of this City is much deeper.  Housing young

          7  people on a barge really makes me think of the

          8  direction this City is trying to steer itself.  As

          9  equally disrespectful is the lack of faith in

         10  alternatives to detention programs and the under

         11  utilization of these programs that are aimed to work

         12  with misguided youth.  Talk about no faith in

         13  communities to take responsibility of its own.

         14                 What does New York City has to say

         15  about itself regarding the Juvenile Justice System,

         16  that we criminalize more and more youth every day

         17  making false accusations that crime is up, that we

         18  have better detention facilities than the Board of

         19  Ed has schools, that we view all youth coming

         20  through the system as guilty, and that we are

         21  housing youth on a slave ship, I mean a correctional

         22  barge with a view of Riker's Island sending a clear

         23  message of future housing options.

         24                 Many of you here today before me have

         25  children, nieces and nephews.  I guess when it hits
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          2  home that is when you realize the state this City is

          3  in and the overall view of its youth.  I hope I

          4  didn't waste my time here today.  I spoke to you all

          5  before about this issue.  I strongly urge that the

          6  City Council look at what this City is setting

          7  itself up for and fight to keep Spofford closed.

          8                 One last comment, these scars on me

          9  are my daily reminders of what my experience at

         10  Spofford meant to me, but my scars are what I have

         11  and I'm alive to talk about it, young people in the

         12  future may not have that chance to tell their tales.

         13                 Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON ROBINSON:  Thank you.

         15  Let me ask you something, you mentioned about some

         16  of the atrocities that had taken place in Spofford.

         17  Young people that you interact with, have they told

         18  you that those kinds of actions, activities are

         19  still going on in Spofford?

         20                 MR. JAMES:  Until the day it closed.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON ROBINSON:  Until the day

         22  it closed. Okay, thank you.

         23                 MR. ROSADO:  Good evening.  I would

         24  like to thank the Council for giving me this

         25  opportunity to speak.  Very rarely an ex- inmate
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          2  goes to Juvenile Correction System and they don't

          3  correct the system, and us, but we had a chance to

          4  speak our feelings, and I welcome this opportunity.

          5                 Spofford Detention Center and any

          6  other form of juvenile incarceration will not, and

          7  does not better the path to adult prison.  The

          8  answer is not to segregate or to incarcerate, the

          9  answer is to educate.

         10                 In 1980, I was placed in the first of

         11  many so- called Juvenile Correction Centers.  I was

         12  supposed to be taught how to respect authority and

         13  follow rules.  What was funny was that the way they

         14  taught me was by yelling at me, insults, physical

         15  abuse, mental abuse, and even as far as chemical

         16  control, and by treating me in this manner, I was

         17  supposed to and expected to learn how to respect.

         18  Well, I learned something all right, I learned how

         19  to jack a car, sell drugs.  I learned so much about

         20  crime that I had the opportunity to see particularly

         21  every prison that the New York City Department of

         22  Corrections had for 10 years.  The New York City

         23  Department of Correction was my landlord.  I put

         24  strong emphasis on the word correction, because in

         25  my opinion, the way it should be read is, New York
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          2  City Department Needs Corrections.

          3                 I have come a long way from a very

          4  shameful past, but through education and support I

          5  stand before you now a new person, a man who now

          6  fights the rights of our youth and what our youth

          7  needs in not more jails, more services, but most of

          8  all more respect.  Society today says that the youth

          9  needs to learn how to respect, well, my response is,

         10  you got to give some to get some.

         11                 But respect is no good if it comes

         12  with empty promises.  To my understanding it is the

         13  responsibility of the City Council whether a plan

         14  goes into action or not.  You need to stop passing

         15  the buck.  The time has come for all the Council

         16  members to start doing the job that you were voted

         17  in for.  Mayor Giuliani can suggest a plan, he can

         18  propose a plan, but it is the City Council that have

         19  the power to put that plan to work.  So my comments

         20  are directed to those individuals who continue to

         21  say one thing to the public and slap us in the face

         22  when they get to office.  For over 10 years the City

         23  has promised to close down Spofford when the

         24  construction of the two new youth detention

         25  facilities were complete.  Well, here we are 10
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          2  years later, and the City has backed out on their

          3  original plans.  The youth demand answers.  We want

          4  to know why young people living in Spofford have to

          5  call Youth Force, a small non- profit organization,

          6  to assist them in getting books to read because

          7  there were no books available in detention, when you

          8  spend $88,000 a year to house a young person.

          9                 It gets even worse.  It took 14-

         10  year- old teenagers and 15- year- old teenagers from

         11  the community to provide these young people with a

         12  simple, but meaningful act of providing a home

         13  cooked meal for the Thanksgiving Holiday, and sit

         14  down with the detainees and really get to know these

         15  young people.  Just something to think about when

         16  you pass the budget and go home to your condos or

         17  private houses with a full refrigerator and a

         18  welcoming family.

         19                 It is a crying shame that the young

         20  detainees at Spofford, once again, had to call upon

         21  Youth Force to assist them with money to pay for an

         22  exterminator, because the facility was invested with

         23  mice and roaches.  We watched daily as these

         24  creatures boldly took over the cafeteria.  What is

         25  some hypocritical is that the City calls our youth
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          2  Super Predators, when it is the City that is

          3  exterminating our youth.

          4                 In conclusion, I will like to leave

          5  everyone here with a thought.  Remember when you

          6  were young.  Remember who was there for you.

          7  Remember who helped you, who taught you, who guided

          8  you, where you lived, where you went to school.  Now

          9  imagine where you would be if all these factors in

         10  your life were switched around and you spent two

         11  years at Spofford.  Do you know where you would be?

         12  I do, you would be right here with me.  You're

         13  welcome to stand with us now, or you can stand with

         14  Giuliani.  The choice is yours.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER:  Thank you very

         16  much, a very powerful testimony from both of you.  I

         17  do have to say, I'm not sure if it's the

         18  responsibility of the Council to decide whether or

         19  not this plan goes into effect or not.  If this were

         20  a proposal to build a new facility, and they had to

         21  go out an buy land, then it would be up to the

         22  Council for a final decision, like the two new

         23  facilities did, I guess, we bought, many of us were

         24  out there, but, at least it came through that

         25  process.
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          2                 This one they can do pretty much on

          3  the run.  And I think they have heard today, from

          4  us, that we're, I think that if there were any

          5  member of this panel that had the choice, the choice

          6  would be to reinvest in a program to keep kids from

          7  getting arrested in the first place, and to keep

          8  them out of jail, if at all possible, if they are

          9  arrested.  And we will continue to say that to the

         10  Mayor as well as we can, until the message gets sets

         11  in with the Mayor.  Hopefully, it will not be that

         12  long a wait, just a change of attitude.

         13                 Thank you very much.  Your

         14  testimonies were helpful, because it puts a face on

         15  the issues that we were talking about this

         16  afternoon, we appreciate you taking the time to be

         17  with us today.

         18                 There being no further witnesses who

         19  have indicated a desire to testify, this hearing is

         20  hereby adjourned.  Thanks to the Committee members

         21  who all were participants, and in particular to our

         22  Council staff and their agents, and to the staff of

         23  school, particular the Principal for the use of

         24  facility.  Thank you very much.

         25                 (Hearing concluded at 5:40 p.m.)
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